Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

12-2010

Finances in Strong African American Marriages

Bonnie Lichfield Anderson Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd



Part of the African American Studies Commons, and the Social and Behavioral Sciences

Commons

Recommended Citation

Anderson, Bonnie Lichfield, "Finances in Strong African American Marriages" (2010). All Graduate Theses and Dissertations. Paper 785.

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact dylan.burns@usu.edu.



FINANCES IN STRONG AFRICAN AMERICAN MARRIAGES

by

Bonnie Lichfield Anderson

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Family, Consumer, and Human Development

Approved:	
Linda Skogrand, Ph.D.	Alena C. Johnson, M.S., A.F.C.
Major Professor	Committee Member
Jeffrey Dew, Ph.D.	Byron Burnham, Ed.D.
Committee Member	Dean of Graduate Studies

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

2010

Copyright © Bonnie Anderson 2010

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Finances in Strong African American Marriages

by

Bonnie Lichfield Anderson, Master of Science

Utah State University, 2010

Major Professor: Dr. Linda Skogrand

Department: Family, Consumer, and Human Development

This study focused on how African American couples in happy marriages talked about finances in their couple relationships. Qualitative methodology was used for this study, and the data came from transcribed interviews with participants. Thirty-seven couples who identified their marriages as being strong, happy, or highly satisfying, volunteered to be interviewed for this study. All individual participants (74 total) talked about finances in their marriages, and all interviews were used for the purpose of this study. Their descriptions were coded and analyzed to explore the way that they talked about money issues in their marriages. The research questions focused on how couples talked about financial stress and how they talked about financial decisions in their relationships. An unanticipated finding was how they talked about transcending finances in their marriages. The findings can contribute to future research and financial education for African American couples.

(136 pages)

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many thanks to my committee for their support, enthusiasm, and constructive feedback. I'd like to express gratitude for the time and energy they spent and the expertise they provided to help me through this process. Thanks to Alena Johnson for inspiring, encouraging, and uplifting at every opportunity. I think of you as a role model in more ways than I can number. Thanks to Jeff Dew for providing needed guidance that always came across as supportive and motivating. I was privileged to have you on my committee. Thanks to Linda Skogrand for being the ideal individual to help me succeed in this process and important stage of my life. Thank you for teaching me how to write, to learn from my mistakes, and to understand, for myself, how practice means improvement toward perfection, and that perfection is not necessary from the start for a worthwhile outcome. I appreciate all your help with helping me revise until I was writing well. Thank you for your dedication that helped repair previous doubts I had about what I was capable of. Thank you for your patience with me and for making me your priority every time I walked in your office or sent you an email. I genuinely feel that I could not have asked for a better committee or a more wonderful major professor.

I would also like to express gratitude and love for my family. Kurt, you are the best husband I could ask for, and I don't intend to ever challenge that. Thank you for saying time and time again, "Bonnie, you can DO it," when I was discouraged. Thank you for staying up late with me on sleepless nights and for loving me in stressful times when you were the only one in close enough proximity to feel (and hear about) my anxiety. You are my best friend.

Thank you to my parents, Aaron and DeAnn Lichfield. Your great marriage should be recorded in history along with the other greats. It has been awesome to study a topic that my own parents exemplify. I appreciate how special your relationship is and how you have worked together to withstand life's difficulties. I am so grateful for your loving support, my parental unit!

Finally, thank you to good friends in the FCHD Department! Thanks to faculty, staff, and fellow graduate students who have shown an interest in my life and education and taught me well in classes, offices, meetings, conversation, and by example. Thank you for being optimistic of my potential. I appreciate you all for your influence in my life.

Bonnie Lichfield Anderson

CONTENTS

		Page
ABSTRACT	,	iii
ACKNOWL	EDGMENTS	iv
CHAPTER		
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Purpose of the Study	5
	Theoretical Framework	
	Summary Statement	7
II.	LITERATURE REVIEW	8
	Strong Marriages	10
	African American Marriages	
	Strengths	12
	Challenges	15
	Finances and Marriage	21
	Economic Strain	21
	Financial Management	24
	Finances in African American Marriages	
	Summary	35
	Research Questions	35
III.	METHODS	37
	Introduction	37
	Design	38
	Researcher's Role	40
	Procedures	
	Instrument	
	Sample	
	Analysis	46

	IV.	FINDINGS	vii 48
		Research Question One: How Do Couples Talk about	
		Financial Challenges in Their Marriages?	49
		Pinching Pennies to Get By	51
		Not Being on the Same Page	
		Job Stress	
		Research Question Two: How Do Couples Talk about Making	;
		Financial Decisions in their Marriages?	64
		Financial Behaviors	64
		Approaches to Money Management	71
		Planning Ahead	74
		Unanticipated Finding	76
		Being Satisfied with Making Do	76
		Avoiding Materialism	79
		Helping Others	80
		Summary	83
	V.	DISCUSSION	85
		Overview	85
		Important Findings	85
		Findings Consistent with Existing Research	86
		New Findings Unique to African Americans	89
		Theoretical Framework	
		Limitations	95
		Implications for Future Research	
		Implications for Financial Education	
		Concluding Remarks	100
REFE	RENCI	ES	101
APPEN	NDICE	ES	115
	Appei	ndix A: Brochure	116
		ndix B: Interview Protocol	
		ndix C: Consent Letter	

	viii
Appendix D: Demographic Data Form	123
Appendix E: Interview Schedule	126

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

The United States may have the highest divorce rates in the industrialized world (Popenoe, 2008), but divorce rates have been decreasing in recent years (Wilcox, Marquardt, Popenoe, & Whitehead, 2009). Still, African Americans were more likely than any other ethnic group to be unmarried at any point in time (Wilcox & Wolfinger, 2007). They also have higher rates of divorce and births outside of marriage.

Researchers have responded to high divorce rates and family instability by taking an interest in what makes marriages work, and happiness in marriage and the strengths of lasting marriages have increasingly become major topics of interest in marriage studies (Bachand & Caron, 2001; Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008). Strong marriages are an important model for couples and families to follow and are fundamental to a healthy society (DeFrain & Asay, 2007; Stinnett, Sanders, & DeFrain, 1981).

Research continually indicates that financial issues have an important connection to marital outcomes. "Earning, spending, saving, and sharing money are integral dimensions of contemporary married life" (Wilcox et al., 2009, p. 15). The financial decisions of one spouse affect the other and together couples must address money management in their marriages. For African American couples, investigating successful marriages is of particular importance in research, as the literature on this subject is very limited. This study examines the successes that occur for these happily married couples. Particularly of interest to this study was the way that African American couples talk about the role of money in their marriages.

Many researchers have suggested a positive approach to studying marital relationships, whereas the majority of literature on marriage takes a deficit approach and examines failings in marriage relationships. Research has shown that couples in happy marriages do have difficulties and experience strain in their marriages (Waite, Browning, Doherty, Luo, & Stanley, 2002), but through persistence, they overcame these challenges. The studies that focus on strengths in marriages revealed the positive experiences of happily married couples, and these researchers have called for additional research from a strengths perspective (Daly, Jennings, Beckett, & Leashore, 1995; Olson, 1988; Robinson & Blanton, 1993).

Quantitative studies have shown that intimacy, commitment, communication, agreement, and religion are indicators of strong marriages (Oggins, 2003; Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008; Stanley, Markman, & Whitton, 2002). In addition, perceived equality in marriage relationships were found to contribute to successful marriages (Gray-Little, 1982; Sayer & Bianchi, 2000; Schwartz, 1994).

Qualitative studies have also examined marital strengths. Themes of mutual respect, enjoying one another's company (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 1995), friendship (Bachand & Caron, 2001), overcoming difficulty (Zvonkovic, Guss, & Ladd, 1988), good communication (Skogrand, Johnson, Horrocks, & DeFrain, 2010), and a mutual interest in having a successful marriage (Robinson & Blanton, 1993) were all findings in qualitative studies of characteristics that contributed to happy marriages.

There is little research available on the strengths of African American marriages. However, many research findings fit within the model developed by Hill (1972, 1999) on Black family strengths, which provides useful insights into the strengths of African

American couples. These strengths include egalitarianism and adaptability of family roles, which is evident in studies that have shown how husbands' and wives' roles were complementary and unified (Billingsley, 1992; Goldstein & Reiboldt, 2004; Marks et al., 2008). Strong kinship bonds and religious orientation were also among Hill's family strengths. For African American families, there exists a strong social structure in which the definition of family is extended outside of immediate kin. Black couples were shown to rely on and be relied on by others with varying emotional, social, and financial needs (Hill, 1999; Marks, Nesteruk, Hopkins-Williams, & Swanson, 2006; Marks et al., 2008). Religious orientation is a vital part of a majority of African Americans' lives (Billingsley, 2002), and studies have indicated that religious couples experienced greater marital satisfaction (Lambert & Dollahite, 2006; Marks et al., 2008). The last strengths from Hill (1999) are strong achievement and work orientation, which have been shown to drive many Black couples in their individual pursuits, in their parenting, and as motivators in their marriages.

Because there is little research that describes the experiences of couples in strong African American marriages, many researchers have issued a challenge for more research that examines Black marriage relationships. Several researchers who have conducted exploratory studies about the strengths of African American couples suggest that there is a need for strengths-based research to expand the literature (Cutrona et al., 2003; Hopkins-Williams 2007; Karenga & Karenga, 2007; Marks et al., 2006; Marks et al., 2008).

This need for expanded research is confirmed with marriage statistics for African Americans. The percentage of two-parent families was the lowest for African Americans

when compared to Caucasian, Hispanic, and Asian populations, according to the 2009 U.S. Census (2009b). African American individuals were also more likely than other ethnic groups to be unmarried at any point in time, and they have higher rates of divorce and births outside of marriage (Wilcox & Wolfinger, 2007). This means that there is a low percentage of African American children growing up in two-parent households: 38% compared to Caucasian (78%), Hispanic (70%), and Asian (85%) households (U.S. Census, 2009b).

The interface between finances and marital happiness consistently comes up in marriage studies. There is abundant research on economic strain in marriage, and how finances can influence couples negatively. The Family Stress Model is used by many marriage researchers to address the relationship between financial difficulty and marital satisfaction or dissatisfaction (Conger et al., 2002). Some studies are more general and talk about financial stressors or economic strain and the impact on marriage (Gudmunson, Beutler, Israelsen, McCoy, & Hill, 2007; Stanley et al., 2002). Other studies focus on specific relationships between marriage and debt (Dew, 2007), spending, (Britt, Grable, Goff, & White, 2008), or communication about money (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008).

For many African Americans, marriage is the highest indicator of success, and as Edin and Reed (2005) have shown, this success is linked with financial stability.

Although research on finances in Black marriages is limited, some studies about Black families provide a background and context for marital studies that incorporate money-related themes. Such important themes in the literature include saving (Landry, 1987), spending, wealth accumulation (Gittleman & Wolff, 2004), education (McAdoo, 2007),

gender in finance (White & Rogers, 2000), and communication about money (Oggins, 2003). In low-income populations, men's income was an issue that was associated with couples' willingness to stay together or not (Edin, 2000). These studies contribute to the greater understanding of the experience African American couples have in their marriages, strong or otherwise.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore how happily married African American couples talk about the role of finances in their marriages. Black couples who had strong marriages were interviewed about what made their marriages strong. All of these couples talked about the role of finances in their marriages and were included in this study. The family strengths perspective frames this study, as its findings draw from the success of happy couples. The sample of couples in strong marriages was the basis on which this research project was developed.

Qualitative research methodology was used to collect data from the described sample. Couples in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, responded to flyers that invited couples in strong marriages to participate in interviews to tell their stories about what it took to make their marriages work. Additional participants were recruited through word of mouth. The two principal investigators, Dr. Linda Skogrand from Utah State University (USU) and Dr. Cassandra Chaney from Louisiana State University (LSU), conducted the interviews, which were then transcribed. Demographic information was also collected from these couples (Appendix D). The nature of this research was exploratory. The findings are not representative of, and were not intended to be generalizable to the

population at large. The findings do, however, provide important insights about this sample that, through consistency and discovery, may be used to inform other research.

Theoretical Framework

While deficit-focused research on marriage and family is the most common, and evidence of shortcomings in marriage is abundant, the findings do not provide a model for couples and families to follow or emulate to have strong relationships themselves. Instead, outcomes of deficit-focused family studies provide details about what behaviors to avoid to prevent divorce. One premise of the family strengths framework is that if one studies only problems, one only finds problems (Stinnett et al., 1981). Therefore, if one is interested in identifying the components of strong marriages and families, they will similarly have to look for them.

Many researchers have established that the body of research on the African American population rarely weighs the strengths of their marriages and, therefore, suggests the use of a strengths model to fill the research gap (Daly et al., 1995; Hopkins-Williams, 2007; Logan, 1996; Marks et al., 2006; Mosley-Howard & Evans, 2000). These researchers suggest there is a need for research that identifies family strengths, rather than focusing on how families, couples, and individuals are falling short of a standard.

DeFrain and Asay (2007) further describe the usefulness of the family strengths perspective:

The focus on family strengths brings into a more reasonable balance our understanding of how families succeed in the face of life's inherent difficulties.

By concentrating only on a family's problems and a family's failings, we ignore the fact that it takes a positive approach in life to succeed. The family strengths perspective . . . is positive and optimistic. . . . It does not ignore family problems but restores them to their proper place in life: as vehicles for testing our capacities as families and reaffirming our vital human connections with each other. (p. 3)

The family strengths perspective was developed over several years and has included international studies to identify global patterns of what makes families strong. Some of the assumptions of the family strengths framework include: (a) all families have strengths, (b) strong marriages are central to strong families, (c) the relationship between money and family strengths is tenuous, (d) strengths come from challenges; (e) strong families generally are not seeking to be strong, they are just living, and (f) strong does not mean perfect (DeFrain & Asay, 2007).

Summary Statement

In summary, this study will examine how African American couples in strong marriages talk about finances and the role it plays in their marriages. The family strengths perspective was the theoretical framework used, as it provides a means of focusing on the strengths of the African American couples in this study. This research will contribute to the needed expansion of literature on finances in strong Black marriages.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

The quality of marriages in the United States has implications for individuals, children, families, and communities. According to the Healthy Marriage Initiative, a recent federal agenda to improve the quality of marriage relationships in the United States, the institution of marriage is strongly valued for the benefits it provides individuals, children, families, and the national community (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010). This report indicates, among other positive aspects of marriage, that many social issues could be prevented by healthy marriage environments; married couples build more wealth than single or cohabiting couples; and two-parent, married households are a better environment for children to be raised in than non-married households.

Despite the value of marriage relationships, marriage rates in the United States continue to decline (Popenoe, 2008; Wilcox et al., 2009). Cohabitation has become more popular, divorce rates are still high, and many children are raised in single-parent households (Wilcox et al., 2009). Though decreasing in recent years, divorce rates in the United States are still higher than in any other industrialized country (Popenoe, 2008). Studies suggest that divorced individuals experience higher levels of depression, lower levels of life satisfaction, and more health problems than married individuals (Amato & Previti, 2003).

Studies on marital strengths examine marriages in which couples are satisfied, endure, and provide a perspective of what it is like to experience a healthy marriage

(Bachand & Caron, 2001; Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008; Robinson & Blanton, 1993). The value of marriage puts in perspective the changes in the nature of relationships in the United States. The percentage of people getting married and staying married has declined in the last 30 years (Watt, 2001). Studies that have examined the increase in cohabiting couples, with cohabitation as an alternative to marriage, have found that cohabiting couples have a much higher breakup rate than married couples (Popenoe, 2008). Additionally, although divorce rates in the U.S. have started to decrease in recent years (Wilcox et al., 2009), African American marriages are more likely to end in divorce than those from other ethnic groups, including White marriages (Cherlin, 1998).

In spite of the failings in American marriages, people still pursue marriage relationships and "seek the long-term commitment that marriage promises, even if this does not always happen" (DeFrain & Asay, 2007, p. 2). These authors have suggested that healthy families are the foundation of an ideally healthy society. Based on this principle, federal initiatives have recently been designed to promote healthy marriages, recognizing the fundamental role healthy marriages play in a stable society (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010). Research on strong families has shown that strong families begin with strong marriages, as indicated by Stinnett and colleagues who developed the family strengths perspective (Stinnett et al., 1981).

It has become increasingly significant to examine marriages among African Americans in the contexts of their strengths. Importantly, in the context of married couples, the inescapable financial aspect of marriages will be the focus of this study based on the relationship consistently found between finances and marital satisfaction (Broman, 1993; Clark-Nicolas & Gray-Little, 1991).

Financial strain is particularly relevant in marriage studies as there is evidence that financial strain contributes to couple disagreements and feelings of marital instability for both husbands and wives (Cutrona et al., 2003; Gudmunson et al., 2007). Of the many challenges that arise in marital relationships, financial difficulty is a fundamental stressor in marriages (Conger et al., 1990; Conger, Rueter, & Elder, 1999), and financial management is necessary where financial decisions consistently take place in both strong and struggling relationships.

Financial management practices including spending (Amato & Rogers, 1999; Britt et al., 2008), servicing debt (Dew, 2007), and earnings (Amato & Previti, 2003). For Black couples, studies have begun to examine money issues in their marriages with insights into wealth (Gittleman & Wolff, 2004), education (Marks et al., 2008), and gender roles (Clark-Nicolas & Gray-Little, 1991). There is still much to learn about the experiences of African American couples and finances in marriages.

A literature review of the qualities of strong marriages is provided as well as a review of African American family strengths. Finances in marriages in general will also be discussed and, finally, the available literature on finances in the framework of African American relationships will be addressed.

Strong Marriages

In an effort to explain why many marriages do not last, many marital studies focus on the negative experiences of couples who divorce (Waite et al., 2002; Watt, 2001). These studies provide an important perspective that informs and expands understanding of marriage relationships. However, it may be suggested that a

constructive approach to marital research would also be an important contribution to the ongoing collection of research on marriage. This indicates a need for research that identifies family strengths, rather than how families, couples, and individuals experience failings. In response, many researchers have suggested a strengths approach to marital studies (Daly et al., 1995; Olson, 1988; Robinson & Blanton, 1993).

Characteristics of enduring marriages are identified in the literature. Intimacy, commitment, communication, congruence (agreement), and religion enhance the relationships of married couples (Robinson & Blanton, 1993). As evidence of this "marital endurance ethic," studies have found that many currently happy couples have experienced difficulties in their marriages (Waite et al., 2002, p. 6). These spouses said that their marriages got happier, not because they and their partner resolved problems, but because they stubbornly outlasted them. In Waite's study, two out of three unhappily married adults who avoided divorce or separation reported that they were happily married five years later. It is of interest to note that in that same study, only one out of five unhappy spouses who did divorce or separated had happily remarried to another individual in five years.

Research has indicated that marital happiness is highest in egalitarian relationships in terms of equal power in family and work roles (Gray-Little, 1982; Zvonkovic et al., 1988). Couples, whose relationship was more traditional with one spouse acting in a dominant role, scored themselves lower in marital happiness measures (Schwartz, 1994). Schwartz's definition of equity was strongly based in economic equality, with both spouses having equal financial power in the relationship, in terms of

earnings. The concept of a broader definition of egalitarianism was found in many aspects of strong relationships (Sayer & Bianchi, 2000).

Other strengths-based studies provide further insights into the experiences of happily married couples. One qualitative study found that couples in happy marriages said they felt a mutual respect for each other, enjoyed the company of their spouse, and felt cherished by their spouse (Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 1995). Another qualitative study showed that themes of similar backgrounds, love, and friendship between husband and wife contributed to how couples explained their long, happy marriages (Bachand & Caron, 2001). One study examined how couples overcame difficulty, such as job loss, and were able to improve their relationships (Zvonkovic et al., 1988). This study suggested that marital communication and flexibility of family roles helped to improve relationships in times of difficulty.

Many happily married couples found that when they felt the value of their relationships, they were more able to work with their spouses to have great marriages (Robinson & Blanton, 1993). Similarly, other findings suggested that "a happy, long-term marriage can be a reality for those who wish it" (Bachand & Caron, 2001, p. 120). However, given a variety of circumstances, all marriages do not last.

African American Marriages

Strengths

As a background for understanding strong marriages, information on strong

African American families will be described, as there is very little research on marital

strengths among African American couples. The strengths of Black families were

studied extensively by Hill (1972, 1999), who identified five major strengths including adaptability of family roles, strong kinship bonds, strong work orientation, strong religious orientation, and strong achievement orientation. This study will examine strengths in marriages. Hill's family strengths are useful as they have implications for couple strengths.

Egalitarianism and adaptability of family roles. One trend in studies on African American marriages is that of egalitarianism, or equal roles in couple relationships. The egalitarian marriage was described as a best friend relationship (Schwartz, 1994). Further, Schwartz rigidly described how friendship was dependent on equal economic power in the relationship. A qualitative study by Marks and colleagues (2008) provided insights into this theme for Black couples, using the term "equally yoked." Couples in this study described egalitarian marriages as those in which husband and wife are complementary of each other, unified, and use their individual strengths to build a strong marriage. In addition, research indicates that "the sharing of roles lessens the pressures associated with raising a family and ultimately promotes family cohesion and strength" (Logan, 1996, p. 152).

Researchers explain that an egalitarian relationship, sharing market and household labor roles, may stabilize African American marriages (Clark-Nicolas & Gray-Little, 1991; Marks et al., 2008). In conjunction with egalitarianism is the strength in Black marriages of adaptability of family roles. For Black married couples, having someone to share household duties with was important in their relationships (Billingsley, 1992). African American women were found to play a variety of roles in their marriages and families, including their primary task of childrearing, providing financial support, as well

as, in many cases, serving as the head of the household (Goldstein & Reiboldt, 2004). As couples were able to transcend the stereotypical male and female roles by sharing roles equally, they reported deeper satisfaction and greater love (Billingsley, 1992).

Strong kinship bonds. One of the strengths that is important for survival and coping among African Americans is that of kinship and community. These feelings come from traditional African cultural patterns (Daly et al., 1995) and are described by couples as impacting the kinship bonds in their marriage relationships (Marks et al., 2008). Historically, nearly all of the concepts pertaining to human relationships can be understood through the kinship system (Hill, 1999). Essentially, learned social structures include every member in "mutual sharing and responsibility for others" (p. 241). This collectivist approach is evident in that African Americans are more likely to rely on family and friends to cope with personal difficulty, which is referred to in the literature as a brotherhood and sisterhood orientation (Logan, 1996). African Americans recognize the value of kinship networks for support in many ways in that family and community support them with emotional, social, and financial needs in their relationships.

The economic assistance that Black families provide for each other address what is commonly referred to in the Black community as "knocks of need" (Marks et al., 2008, p. 183), which are essentially calls for financial or other temporal assistance. Overall, the effects of strong kinship bonds in Black marriages are positive. However, Cherlin (1998) indicated that some kin networks may become overwhelmed by the needs of the network. In order for a lasting positive outcome to continue from these bonds, clustered financial and educational success among many is needed to relieve the pressure on selected individuals (Marks et al., 2006).

Strong religious orientation. Religion is a prevalent theme in Black marriage studies. From the National Survey of Black Americans, 84% of Blacks perceived themselves to be religious (Billingsley, 1992). A large majority of the same sample, (76%), regarded religion as a very important part of their lives. In a qualitative study, religion was found to be unifying for husband and wife, when couples participated in religious practices together (Marks et al., 2008). In a study of combined ethnic groups, Lambert and Dollahite (2006) found that religious couples reported greater marital satisfaction, higher commitment to their marriages, higher marital stability, and lower divorce rates.

Strong achievement and work orientation. The last of the family strengths addressed by Hill (1999) are strong achievement and work orientation. The majority of married African American couples are relatively well-educated, employed, own their own homes or are seeking homeownership, and have raised or are raising their biological children (Billingsley, 1992). In most Black households, parents teach their children to become self-sufficient, competent adults (Peters, 2007). The concept of locus of control plays a large part in African American achievement (Hill, 1999). Studies have shown that a strong internal locus of control is needed to aspire to great achievement, but often, Blacks feel more of an external locus of control based on the social barriers they may feel. Therefore, strong achievement and work orientation is found most often in couples where individual self-esteem, internal locus of control, and personal aspirations are high.

Challenges

The majority of the research including African American households examines

the challenges experienced in these households. When compared to other cultures and ethnic groups, gaps do exist between African Americans and other ethnic groups.

Concerns from the deficit perspective include topics such as the decline in marriage rates (Broman, 1993; Staples, 2007), the percentage of single-parent families (Bilingsley, 1992; U.S. Census, 2007; Williams, Auslander, Houston, Krebill, & Haire-Joshu, 2000), and the likelihood of marital dissatisfaction (Broman, 1993). Research was also done on education levels (Cutrona et al., 2003), the influence of neighborhood surroundings (Cutrona et al., 2003), wealth and income levels (Gittleman & Wolff, 2004), and employment (Attewell, Domina, Lavin, & Levey, 2004; Bryant, Taylor, Lincoln, Chatters, & Jackson, 2008), with relation to marital success.

Other studies about African American marriages have begun focusing on research within the Black culture rather than comparing or contrasting with mainstream culture to provide an inward look at the African American demographic (Peters, 2007; Williams et al., 2000). Williams and colleagues have suggested that "the within-group approach contributes to a strengths perspective to investigate African American families rather than focusing on their deficits in comparison to other groups" (2000, p. 840). The connection between the value of quality African American relationships and the importance of non-deficit studies is explained in the following:

Quality relations are the hub on which family, community, and society turn. And male-female relations are key, not only in family formation and strength but also in human life itself. Therefore, at the heart of all family studies—studies endeavoring to provide a comprehensive and effective set of initiatives to reinforce the strengthening of and repair of the personal and collective damage

done to the Black family and its members—must be a focus on improving malefemale relations. (Karenga & Karenga, 2007, p. 8)

Although it is important to look at deficits in order to understand and learn from them, researchers continue to recommend a non-deficit approach to studying African American marriage relationships (Cutrona et al., 2003).

Marriage rates. It is important to address challenges and deficits in order to learn from them. Several studies investigated gaps among African American compared to other households (Broman, 1993; Gittleman & Wolff, 2004). Cherlin described the decline in Black marriages and gap between White marriages and predicted that marriage would continue to be highly valued in society, but he projected that "Because of high levels of nonmarital childbearing, cohabitation, and divorce, people will spend a smaller proportion of their adult lives in intact marriages than in the past" (1998, p. 858). Since 1970, the proportion of Black divorced individuals to Black married individuals has risen (Chadiha, Veroff, & Leber, 1998). From 1970 to 1992, African Americans' divorce ratio raised from 8/100 to 31/100 married individuals.

In 1970, more than 68% of African American households were two-parent households (Staples, 2007). Since then, the American Community Survey showed that in 2007, only 31% of African Americans were married, which represents the lowest marriage rate among all other ethnic categories, keeping in mind that marriage rates are decreasing across the board (U.S. Census, 2007). The divorce rate for Blacks can be represented by 23 per 100 African American couples, compared with 19 per 100 for White couples (Chapman, 2007). With consideration to the increase in cohabitation trends, African American cohabitors are much more likely to separate than White

cohabitors by comparison of 55% breakup to 38% breakup, respectively (Oppenheimer, 2003). These statistics confirm Cherlin's prediction of the likelihood that marriage rates would continue to decrease for African Americans (Cherlin, 1992, 2004).

The U.S. Bureau of the Census (2009b) indicated that two-parent families were the lowest for African Americans when compared to Caucasian, Hispanic, and Asian populations. African American individuals are more likely than other ethnic groups to be unmarried at any point in time, and they have higher rates of divorce and births outside of marriage (Wilcox & Wolfinger, 2007). This means that there is a low percentage of African American children growing up in two-parent households: 38% compared to Caucasian (78%), Hispanic (70%), and Asian (85%) households (U.S. Census, 2009a). Edin (2000) adds that Blacks have the lowest marriage rates compared to other groups.

Wilson (1987), who asked some very important research questions in the 1980's regarding Black males' marriageability, concluded that the perceived ability of men to support a family through factors such as education and employment depressed the marriage rates for African Americans. The number of marriageable men among African Americans was shown to be a real problem considering factors of mortality, migration, changing birthrates, and patterns of interracial marriage (Tucker & Taylor, 1989). When discussing the Black population, one must also consider imprisonment of many men. A disproportionate number of Black men are either in prison or dead, according to Chapman (2007). While African Americans make up only 12% of the population in the United States, African American men accounted for 44% of inmates, contributing to the male shortage and limited opportunity for women to find marriageable men.

Statistics have also shown a racial earnings gap that affects marriage rates for African Americans, given the priority African Americans put on employment before marriage (McAdoo, 2007). One study found that the average African American male employee earned 64% of what his Caucasian counterpart earned annually, which equates to \$19,227 less each year (Attewell et al., 2004). Additionally, on average, Black working men had fewer years of education and held less prestigious jobs. Over time history has seen an overall pattern of small improvements for African American workers and families (Marks et al., 2006). However, the Economic Policy Institute recently released a snapshot of median weekly earnings for workers aged 25 to 54 including White, Hispanic, Black, and Asian workers (Austin, 2009). The results showed an increase of over 5% for Hispanic and Asian earnings and a 2% increase in earnings for Whites. African American workers, however, experienced a 3.7% decline in weekly earnings for the same two-year period. Although since the 1950s, income levels for African Americans have more than doubled, they are still living on about 60% of White income levels (McAdoo, 2007).

Marriage value. Marriage is of value to African Americans. Psychologically, Black married persons reported more happiness, greater life satisfaction, and fewer emotional problems than unmarried (Blackman, Clayton, Glenn, Malone-Colon, & Roberts, 2005). Socially, marriage is beneficial to African Americans as they were more likely to reject illegal or unethical behavior and less likely to report criminal activity as married than as single individuals. Economically, marriage was found to contribute highly to the economic well-being of African Americans. African American couples do better than those who are unmarried in several ways, including earning more, being less

likely to suffer from financial hardship or poverty, having higher occupational prestige, and being more likely to be homeowners (Blackman et al., 2005).

One may speculate about the value Black Americans place on marriage. Years ago, researchers concluded that even though Black marriage rates were lower and Black divorce rates were higher than others, Blacks were more disapproving of divorce and were comparatively more approving of marriage than Whites (Trent & South, 1992). South (1993) found that among unmarried, non-cohabiting African American adults, 77% desired to get married. Research continues to show that marriage relationships among African Americans are highly valued and marriage relationships continue to meet the needs of individuals and the community (Billingsley, 1992). Hill's research (1972, 1999) also provides evidence of the value of marriage to African American adults by calling marriage relationships a vital part of the African American community.

The value of marriage is evident among Black Americans, as studies have shown that most strongly desire marriage (Staples, 2007). Personal examples of the value of marriage are given in Hopkins-Williams' (2007) qualitative research, where couples explained that good marriages have a positive effect on their lives and on the lives of their families. For many African Americans, marriage appeared to be the highest indicator of success (Edin & Reed, 2005). Research has found that married people ranked higher in measurements of self-fulfillment than those who were separated, divorced, or never married (Billingsley, 1992). Among African American adults, the many functions of marriage made marriage valuable and attractive, including raising children, companionship, love life, safety, housework help, and financial security.

Finances and Marriage

The reciprocal relationship of money issues and marriage is described by Dew when he explained that "financial issues predict marital processes and outcomes just as marriage predicts financial behavior" (2008, p. 337). Researchers have made efforts to clarify how this relationship works, and consequently, this relationship has implications for marital therapy, financial planning and education, and ultimately, policy.

There is a relationship between marriage and finance through couples' management of debt, assets, spending, work, and education, for example. Marital studies that combine marriage and finances often merge specific financial decisions into such topics as debt or job loss. These studies most commonly examine the relationship between finances and marital strain (Cutrona et al., 2003; Conger et al., 1999; Dew, 2008; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004; Krokoff, 1991; Marks et al., 2006). Research has shown that financial strain is an essential component of a couple's overall financial satisfaction that contributes to marital stability (Gudmunson et al., 2007). Research on specific financial management practices for African American couples is limited, so financial management in relation to marriage studies in general will be summarized below.

Economic Strain

Much of the research on marriage and finance focuses heavily on the impact that financial stress has on marriages. Societal economic problems since the Great Depression in the 1930s have increased the interest of researchers to investigate how economic hardship impacts marriages and families (Conger et al., 1999). One study found that difficult economic circumstances, through the strain and distress caused, were

negatively reflected in marital adjustment (Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004). While there are many factors that can cause strain on a marriage, economic pressure in its many forms was shown to increase hostility in marriage (Dew, 2008). In fact, the high frequency of marital conflicts over money concerns has led to frequent reports in the media that money problems are the number one cause of divorce (Stanley et al., 2002). Others indicated that most couples struggle with issues about money and finance, and when couples perceive that problems with money are not solvable, it can damage their relationships unnecessarily (Jenkins, Stanley, Bailey, & Markman, 2002). These authors also provided the following:

One of the pathways to unhappiness or divorce lies not so much in having problems with money but in believing that there is something seriously wrong with your relationship because you've not resolved all your financial issues. (p. 156)

These authors suggest that financial problems are normal and can be overcome.

Paycheck to paycheck. The Family Stress Model, developed by Conger and colleagues, emphasizes the ultimate impact of economic pressure on marital satisfaction, identifying such financial strains to include "the inability to purchase necessary goods and services, having to make significant cutbacks in daily expenditures because of limited resources, and being unable to pay monthly bills" (Conger et al., 2002, p. 180). This model has been used in many studies because of its usefulness in explaining the interaction between financial difficulties and marital satisfaction (Cutrona et al., 2003; Dew, 2007; Gudmunson et al., 2007). In 2003, Cutrona et al. explained that "the key prediction of the Family Stress Model is that experiences of adversity, especially

financial strain, predict deterioration in the quality of interactions between family members" (p. 390).

Financial problems can result from finding difficulty in paying bills, continually having to reduce expenses, and struggling to afford necessities (Conger et al., 1999).

Research by Conger and colleagues has provided that "even a strong marriage will likely suffer under the weight of serious and continuing financial deprivation" (p. 54).

Insufficient funds and difficult financial decisions can decrease good-natured problem solving among spouses while emotional distress from financial burdens divides them (McLoyd, 1990).

Predicting dissatisfaction. Research has built upon the explanation that individual factors act as mediators between financial difficulties and couple relationships. Marital interactions, positive and negative, may link financial strain to marital stability without relying on individual distress as a mediator (Gudmunson et al., 2007). Economic problems was shown to affect marital stability by both decreasing spousal warmth and positive interactions and increasing hostility and negative interactions, therefore creating marital problems (Conger et al., 1990, 2002). Gudmunson et al. (2007) also found evidence that couples' financial strain accounted for a large portion of both husbands' and wives' emotional distress which led to couple disagreements and feelings of marital instability for both husbands and wives.

While some studies indicate that financial problems, explicitly, may explain only a small percentage of divorce in married couples (Andersen, 2005), money-related themes are persistently identified in studies as important factors of marital satisfaction and success. Dealings with finances come up frequently in marital counseling, so much

so that Poduska and Allred suggested, "Even though finances are recognized as one of the major sources of marital discord, courses in family finance do not appear to be an integral part of marriage and family therapy training programs" (1990, p. 162). Couples in both marital therapy and financial counseling both experienced higher levels of financial disagreements than control group couples in the community (Aniol & Snyder, 1997). A recent study also confirmed that high levels of financial stress were found to negatively influence relationship satisfaction (Britt et al., 2008).

Researchers in one study observed that "a marriage relationship which is flexible enough to allow for changes in the wife's roles and changes in the husband's roles would be most adaptive in economic hard times" (Zvonkovic et al., 1988, p. 61). While great marriages are no strangers to adversity, especially in a financial context, research findings revealed that couples found ways to overcome such difficulty (Robinson & Blanton, 1993). Jenkins and colleagues (2002) also indicated that money conflicts were inevitable for most couples, but the difference in overcoming financial struggles or disagreements was found in teamwork and patience. Considering the likelihood of couples experiencing economic strain, studies have shown that amid financial challenges, couples still experience great marriages (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008; Skogrand et al., 2010).

Financial Management

Married couples exercise financial management as they make everyday moneyrelated decisions that affect their marriages, providing information for a large body of research. Financial management in its many forms contributes to the financial satisfaction in marriage relationships which, in turn, plays a role in couples' general satisfaction in their marriages. In an examination of the qualities of strong marriages, Skogrand and colleagues (2010) found that happily married couples were effective in managing their finances. Studies have shown how married couples demonstrate prudent financial behavior specifically by living within their income, saving, paying bills on time, and avoiding unnecessary debt (Conger et al., 1999; Hibbert, Beutler, & Martin, 2004).

Education. Education is cited as being positively associated with relational satisfaction (Cutrona et al., 2003). In one study, education was positively related to financial satisfaction, which in turn increased marital satisfaction for couples (Joo & Grable, 2004). Providing a distinction between men and women's aspirations, White and Rogers (2000) indicated that whereas women's employment, earnings, and prospects increase divorce, men's employment, earning, and prospects reduce divorce. However, an increase in both husbands' and wives' education reduces the chances of divorce. Furthermore, education, especially consumer science education, can help alleviate financial stressors in marriages that cause other marital distress (Grable, Britt, & Cantrell, 2007). Educational attainment was also an indicator of marriage formation for men (Oppenheimer, 2003).

Employment. As couples experience added work and higher wages, the likelihood of divorce decreased, and the likelihood of couples initially entering into the marital commitments also increased (Ahituv & Lerman, 2007). Income reduction or elimination is negatively associated with financial and relationship satisfaction (Maxwell, 1994). For low-income couples, an additional strain exists with unemployment when couples often must go to more extreme measures to keep up with expenses during these difficult times. Other research indicated that for cohabiting couples, employment

instability led to lower chances of couples marrying than of couples separating (Oppenheimer, 2003).

Likely due to the additional strain, lower income individuals are more likely to consider divorce than others (Amato & Previti, 2003). Individuals with higher levels of income are less likely to experience unemployment throughout their careers (Grable et al., 2007). In one study, researchers found that few underemployed couples were prepared for unemployment, even with knowledge that a layoff was pending (Zvonkovic et al., 1988). Respondents, however, indicated that job loss allowed for them to spend more time with their families, which they cited as a positive outcome of the negative experience.

Income. Research has shown how income and satisfaction with financial status can predict satisfaction with quality of life (Mugenda, Hira, & Fanslow, 1990). In a family study, researchers measured financial satisfaction and well-being and found that households reporting higher levels of income were more satisfied (Winter, Bivens, & Morris, 1984). This finding was confirmed in a more recent study where they found that low-income levels were associated with a higher probability of divorce (Amato & Previti, 2003). This phenomenon was explained in that low-income households have less flexibility and greater vulnerability to "financial disturbances" such as unexpected expenses and other changes (Grable et al., 2007).

Reduced income in terms of reduced employment is related to financial disruption in marriage. One study examined the resilience of couples in times of underemployment, or reduced income (Zvonkovic et al., 1988). These authors found that despite the loss of work and the control they had over the situation, men surveyed accepted responsibility

for what they could do about their economic misfortune. These researchers cited that an adaptive perspective for the challenge was positively associated with good marriage relationships. "Whether or not such a crisis occurred, challenged couples clarified personal direction, reestablished trust, improved communication, and redefined their relationships" (1988, p. 60). For other couples, however, unemployment can be detrimental to a marriage.

Spending. There are a variety of examples of how spending habits in marriages have been shown to affect the satisfaction of couples in their marriages. High levels of materialism in married couples were found to be related to an increase in financial problems in marriage, and, consequently, couples reported that finances often are a source of trouble in their relationships (Dean, Carroll, & Yang, 2007). Other findings show that foolish spending of money caused marital strain (Amato & Rogers, 1999). In a recent study, couples who concluded that their partner spent large amounts of money without consulting them indicated a significant predictor of relationship satisfaction, as those who perceived their partner's spending behaviors negatively were more likely to exhibit low relationship satisfaction (Britt et al., 2008).

While wasting money was cited as one of six significant predictors of divorce (Amato & Rogers, 1999), 85% of happily married couples reported that they agreed on how to spend money in the National Survey of Marital Strengths (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008). Studies have shown that financial satisfaction is positively related to positive financial behaviors, including paying credit card bills in full monthly and comparison-shopping for more expensive items (Joo & Grable, 2004). One qualitative study that

examined finances in happily married couples reported that discussing major purchases before buying was important in their relationships (Skogrand et al., 2010).

Saving and assets. Another aspect of a couple's experience with financial management is in accumulating assets necessary for future expected and unexpected expenses. Married individuals often have differing saving methods. For couples with the greatest contrasting methods of saving, it followed that they experienced more conflict with financial decisions in the relationship (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008). Dew (2007) investigated specifically how assets affected marriages through the Family Stress Model. He affirmed that an increase in assets reduces couples' feelings of economic pressure and thereby increased marital satisfaction. In 2009, Dew reinforced this point when his findings indicated that an accumulation of assets not only reduces the probability of divorce, but also predicts increased marital satisfaction in married couples.

Communication. Many studies have consistently established the important role of communication in strong marriages, especially in financial matters (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008; Skogrand et al., 2010; Stanley et al., 2002; Zvonkovic et al., 1988). In the National Survey of Marital Strengths, communication and conflict resolution were the most predictive categories for happy couples. In this study, they found that even happily married couples disagreed about finances more than any of the other topics addressed (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008). The difference was that happy couples agreed on how to handle their financial decisions more than unhappy couples to a significant degree. With increased education in relationships, couples were able to communicate more effectively, which eased stress levels that often occur with financial difficulty (Amato & Previti, 2003). Grable and colleagues stated, "Conflict is normal and expected in relationships,

yet it becomes problematic when couples are unable to settle differences related to family finances, household activities, and other behaviors" (2007, p. 132).

Couples in happy marriages identified the need for trust and communication in financial management (Skogrand et al., 2010). Husband and wife working to be in agreement about finances is especially important considering that among married couples, one individual generally manages the everyday finances (Muske & Winter, 2001). One study found that money managers who communicated more were more likely to actively use money management practices (Mugenda et al., 1990). Also, of importance to this study is that communicating about finances was more frequent in households with high debts, which supports the need for talking about money management especially when financial difficulties are present in the household.

Debt. Servicing consumer debt is an important form of financial management in marriages, as debt is often unavoidable. A large majority of newlyweds bring debt into their marriage (Skogrand, Schramm, Marshall, & Lee, 2005). "The amount of debt, along with other expenses associated with couples beginning their lives together, are likely to distract couples from the developmental task of building a strong marriage relationship during the first few months and years of marriage" (p. 1). Married couples acquire and service more consumer debt than single individuals (Fan, 2008).

Dew's research (2007) explored the impact of consumer debt using the Family Stress Model and found a direct relationship between consumer debt and marital outcomes, including an increase in marital conflict with the presence of consumer debt. Husbands and wives perceived preexisting debt to be the most problematic of the many difficulties experienced early in marriage (Skogrand et al., 2005). It is of interest to note

that medical and school-related debt were recognized by participants as "necessary" and, consequently, did not correlate as highly with marital dissatisfaction as did other preexisting debt, such as car loans and credit cards.

Even in happy marriages, over half of the couples surveyed in one study, debt was identified as an issue in their marriages (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008). Researchers have gained insight from happily married couples who identified that they had experienced financial troubles, but they made a point to work through debt as a couple (Skogrand et al., 2010).

In summary, financial satisfaction is a significant predictor of marital satisfaction (Broman, 2005). Interestingly, Broman (1993) found that the relationship between financial satisfaction and marital satisfaction is positive; meaning that as couples become more content with their financial satisfaction, their marital well-being also improves. This conclusion was also made by Dean and colleagues (2007) who reported that according to a married person's perception of increases in financial problems, his or her marital satisfaction would decrease.

In addition, observing the extent to which couples experience satisfaction with their finances enables researchers to distinguish between those couples who have considered getting a divorce and those who have not (Grable et al., 2007). Research has shown that those who perceived that their financial status or income positively were more likely to expect future financial security (Berry & Williams, 1987; Mugenda et al., 1990). This financial satisfaction leads to personal satisfaction and marital satisfaction as was previously described.

Finances in African American Marriages

While there are some studies on finances in African American marriages, many financial topics addressed above are not included in the literature for Black couples. The importance of studying the subject of finances and Black marriages in combination becomes more significant when one considers the value marriage has for this ethnic group (Blackman et al., 2005; Edin & Reed, 2005). For many African Americans, marriage appears to be the highest indicator of success and is inextricably linked with financial stability.

Financial matters have an important influence on Black marriages. Studies have shown that conditions of poverty, inadequate employment for Black men, lack of a strong marriage pool, and wage distinctions between men and women are most commonly cited as explanations for variability in marriage rates among Blacks (Williams et al., 2000). Many studies focus on the disparity between races in terms of income, wealth, and education and how these things affect couples' relationships (Kimmel, 1998; Neal & Johnson, 1996; Reimers, 1983; Tucker & Mitchell-Kernan, 1995). Many studies have attempted to explain the reasons for the incongruence between the value African Americans place on marriage and divorce or marriage rates. South's work (1993) has thoroughly examined this phenomenon. He found that while Black women are motivated to marry, their decision to marry is affected by men's social and economic characteristics (1993). Edin's research (2000) showed that low-income, single mothers, emphasize the draw to marry must include that a man have stable employment and their income source is also stable and well above minimum wage.

Saving and spending. Understanding patterns of savings is important when one considers the general experiences of middle-class families of living paycheck to paycheck. One may observe a major difference in the White and Black populations' ability to pay unexpected expenses. Landry (1987) found that these obligations were met by Blacks and lower-middle-class Whites because they had "taken out a loan, sacrificed something, or borrowed from a friend or a relative" (p. 154) whereas over half of upper-middle-class Whites would address unexpected expenses with current income or savings. However, it should be noted that even with fewer resources, upper-middle-class Blacks were still able to pay their bills like upper-middle-class Whites (Landry, 1987).

Charitable spending was indicated as an important use of income for religious African American couples in one study (Marks, Dollahite, & Dew, 2009). In this study, couples spent a relatively large percentage of their income for religious offerings to express thanks and as a means of assisting others. Some would continue giving even when it would lead to financial hardship.

Wealth. The accumulation of wealth, then, may also be an important consideration in the economic experience of African American couples. Gittleman and Wolff (2004) showed that the differences in wealth levels and patterns of wealth accumulation were staggering for African Americans in comparison to Whites.

Interestingly, when controlling for income, the savings rates for African Americans were not significantly different. It is interesting to note, also, that wealth levels may be more attributed to earnings per the same education level, again reinforcing the disparity. Studies have also shown that accumulated wealth for most middle-class African Americans is not enough to survive on for half a year without assistance and, therefore,

they are not unlike others in the middle class who are not "independently wealthy" (Landry, 1987, p. 156). In addition, one study showed that between generations, discussion of accumulating wealth and assets in the form of risky investments was not common, but rather, African Americans learned from their parents to think of building wealth safely in the form of getting a good job and investing in their education (Bowman, 2010).

Education. Studies have shown that education is a critical factor in employment opportunities, which, in turn affects marriage opportunities, which also contributes to marriage stability (Marks et al., 2008). Research has shown that inequalities in education cause stress in marriages (McAdoo, 2007). Marks and colleagues (2008) expound on this dilemma by citing that for men, education is critical to marital opportunities by way of the financial or employment opportunities that come with education. McAdoo explains that Black women are more likely to get more education than Black men, which is reflected in the 2008 Census data (U.S. Census, 2009b).

Recent findings indicate that the percentage of Black Americans with at least a bachelor's degree is 20%, above Hispanics (13%) with the next highest ethnic group being Whites (33%). It is interesting to note that in 2007 dollars, the difference in earnings between a high school degree and a bachelor's degree was over \$20,000 (U.S. Census, 2009b), making education financially valuable as well as valuable in relationships as indicated above. White and Rogers (2000) provided the following:

The race-interaction hypothesis receives support from a consistent set of findings that male employment, earnings, and prospects matter more in African American than White women's decisions to marry. . . . In fact, paralleling results for men,

women's income is more important in predicting African American than White marriage. (p. 1041)

Gender. Research by McAdoo (2007) in her studies on Black families revealed that economics is a major reason that African Americans may not marry or be slow to get married. Generally, men with higher earnings, more secure jobs and stronger economic prospects are more likely to marry. One study found that for every three Black unmarried women in their 20s, there is roughly only one unmarried man with earnings above the poverty threshold (Lichter, McLaughlin, Kephart, & Landry, 1992). Studies have indicated that economic factors are more central to marriage decisions for Blacks than for Whites (White & Rogers, 2000).

Interestingly, while some studies have shown that African American women's increasing economic independence has helped explain declines in marriage and family life among African American adults (Sayer & Bianchi, 2000), Lichter and colleagues (1992) found that women with the most economic resources were also the most likely to marry. Their results supported findings that "men may increasingly 'prefer' women with economically attractive traits, e.g., a good job" (Lichter et al., 1992). In addition, White and Rogers (2000) found significant positive effects of both women's and men's earnings and employment on marriage quality.

Communication. Communication in marriage about money management is important in African American marriages as it is in any other ethnic group. A study by Oggins (2003) provided that for African American and European American newlyweds, couples were most likely to identify financial tension over other topics including family,

having children, religion, and leisure. Correlations between marital tension and the topic of money issues were very similarly high for either demographic.

In summary, identifying particular financial aspects that affect African American marriages does inform and enlarge the literature; however, other research has shown a stronger link between perceived economic adequacy and marital satisfaction, than with specifically identified elements that make up financial standing. Clark-Nicolas and Gray-Little allowed for Black couples' interpretation of their own financial circumstance, or "perceptions of economic adequacy" in correlation with other elements of their marriages and thereby recognized the value of addressing money issues in marriage this way in studying marital satisfaction (1991).

Summary

One may examine the circumstances for many African American couples dealing with money issues in marriage by considering the observation by Cutrona and colleagues that, "It is possible that only good marriages are able to survive the stress of life in an economically disadvantaged context" (Cutrona et al., 2003, p. 404). More research is needed to understand this phenomenon. Researchers have extended the invitation for studies that examine the strong linkage that exists among race, marriage, and economic well-being (White & Rogers, 2000). Particular attention will be paid to how these couples talk about money issues in general, decision-making, and how they deal with financial issues.

Research Questions

Based on the reviewed literature, this study will address the general research

question as stated below, under which two specific questions are enumerated: How do

African American married couples with strong marriages talk about finances and the role
money plays in their marriages?

- 1. How do they talk about financial challenges in their marriages?
- 2. How do they talk about making financial decisions in their marriages?

CHAPTER III

METHODS

Introduction

A qualitative study was conducted to explore the experiences of African American couples in strong marriages. Qualitative methodology is a useful method of research for this study for several reasons. This methodology will allow for an in-depth understanding of Black married couples who have strong marriages and who talk about the role of money in their marriages. This topic of research is relatively new to the literature and requires exploration. This study relied on the personal representations and constructions of participants' own experiences and realities in their marriages (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003). Depth through dialogue, not breadth, was the underlying goal of this qualitative research (Ambert, Adler, Adler, & Detzner, 1995).

Rather than seeking verification, qualitative research falls in the context of discovery (Ambert et al., 1995), which was the aim of this study. This study utilized qualitative methodology to develop the concepts and realities of how sampled couples viewed finances in their marriages. The realities of African American couples in great marriages were explored as couples answered questions about their marriage relationships including how they talked about finances in their marriages. The overlying research question was: How do African American couples in strong marriages talk about finances in their marriages?

The design used in qualitative studies is evolving and flexible, as the feedback from respondents is less restricted than in other methods (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003;

Rowan & Huston, 1997). While data collection for qualitative research may be in a variety of forms, in this study interviews were used to extract the participants' own words and perspectives on what they experience in their great marriages. The method used to gather a sample for this qualitative research included purposeful and snowball sampling. Purposive sampling was used as participants were selected because of some characteristic they had in common, in this case, happiness in marriage.

A specific type of purposive sampling is snowball sampling, whereby participants help to expand the sample based on the characteristics being studied. This was done, as described by Bogdan and Biklen (2003), by referrals from one participant leading to another. A characteristic of qualitative studies which use these forms of sampling, is that they are most often nonrepresentative of or not generalizable to the population (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003), which means that for this study, results cannot be assumed to represent any other group without consideration to the procedure of purposive sampling. Rather, the findings of this study may inform future studies on this subject matter.

Design

This qualitative study utilized a strength-based framework. Its goal was to study African American couples who reported having highly successful, strong, satisfying, and happy marriage relationships. The family strengths perspective was an appropriate theoretical framework to meet the objectives of this study in that this perspective focuses on exploring the strengths or positive qualities of successful marriages instead of focusing on why marriages fail (Stinnett et al., 1981). Focusing on problems and failings in families result in only negative conclusions, but focusing on family strengths allows

for understanding how families function when facing inherent and external difficulties (DeFrain & Asay, 2007). This framework, therefore, does not deny the existence of family problems nor does it discount the need for deficit-focused studies; rather, the family strengths perspective provides an opportunity to learn how families meet challenges. Therefore, the goal of this study was to be able to study great marriages for their strengths and to examine their experiences collectively through qualitative interviews in which financial matters were addressed. The basis of using happily married couples was the fundamental use of the theoretical framework, and the findings that followed were based on those themes that emerged from couples that recognized that their marriages were strong.

Qualitative research methods were used for this study. Conducting qualitative research is useful to explore phenomenon, and it allows the researcher to get a detailed understanding of an issue (Creswell, 2007). It is a useful instrument for addressing relatively new research topics. The nature of qualitative research is that respondents are not restricted to a list of answers. Because the sample in this study consisted of couples who felt that they had great marriages, they were considered the experts on the topic, and the findings from this study could provide insights for future research. The open, unrestricted responses from a qualitative interview design also provide useful information to inform future studies. Through qualitative interviews, as described in Bogdan and Biklen's work (2003) emerging themes were identified to provide an increased understanding of the experiences of the participants.

For the initial sample selection, there were four criteria that had to be met by participants. First, both husband and wife in each couple had to agree that they had a

strong marriage, based on their own definition of a strong marriage. Second, both husband and wife had to consider themselves to be African American. Because the length of marriage and presence of children affect a marriage relationship, these factors were considered in recruiting the volunteers, therefore, the couples had to have been married at least ten years and have at least one child.

Researcher's Role

In qualitative research, the researcher's ability to separate his or her biases from the findings is limited when he or she is the channel through which the data is processed (Bogdan & Biklen, 2003). All researchers have their own expectations and prejudices, and their subjectivity can be both an aid and an obstacle when they are processing data. Similarly, the researcher's values and experiences regarding this topic of research can affect judgment in analysis. This reflexivity, or a conscious awareness of one's biases, values, and experiences, is important to bring forward in qualitative research (Creswell 2003). Therefore, the role of the researcher is described below with respect to those assumptions and biases held by the researcher on the topic of money and marriage.

The researcher's studies in the humanities have a significant influence on the use of qualitative methodology. Where every person has such differing experiences, one can learn new information by listening to others, and it is extremely important to understand the phenomenon and the experiences of individuals. This is done effectively with qualitative methodology.

The researcher's initial interest in marital strengths research came from the inspiring examples of first, parents, then many families, friends, and acquaintances who

exhibit genuine happiness in marriage. These happily married couples have had and continue to have difficult conflicts to resolve, but they do just that: resolve the conflicts in their marriage and as a result, they are happier for it.

The researcher is encouraging of lasting marriages, with a belief that if two people were in a loving relationship with each other at some point in their lives, they can renew or return to that if they both want to find it in their relationship. Furthermore, it is the observation of the researcher that when couples consider the option of divorce to resolve marital conflicts, the residual damage of divorce far exceeds the benefits of seeking resolution to marital conflicts. There are exceptions to this, such as in the case of physically or emotionally-damaging relationships.

The financial focus of this study is also influenced by the researcher's background. The family finance emphasis in the researcher's current studies has allowed an exploration of the individual and family aspects of money management. Family financial problems, consumer theories, and family economics are her focus of study. It is understood that there are many financial issues occurring in couple relationships at all times, and such issues are important to understand in research.

The researcher strongly values work and has observed the benefits to self and others that come from being a hard worker. The researcher's father always exemplified good, hard work. When he was unemployed for a year, he found work in a job that was far below his education, income, and skill level before finding a place again in his profession. During that time, researcher's mother went back to school and began working full-time after being at home to help provide for the family. This researcher believes that

everyone can work and that sacrificing for one's family is a noble pursuit, especially in financially difficult times.

The researcher supports "traditional" roles in couple relationships and that in a perfect world, time for mothers to spend with their children would be a priority, a model that would vary with the makeup of the family, such as when children are not present in the home. This cannot be the case most of the time in many marriages, and the dualearner structure is valuable for families to meet their financial obligations. The researcher does feel very strongly that egalitarian relationships, not necessary in terms of equal earnings among dual earners, is a fantastic role arrangement where both spouses can feel valued and feel purpose in their marriages and families. The crossover and adaptability of roles discussed in the literature, especially for Black families, is advantageous.

The personal biases which this researcher needs to be kept in mind include expectations for successful marriage, exposure to family finance studies, value placed on work, and perspective on roles in married relationships. The researcher's reflexivity in the role as a researcher should assist to alert the researcher to those biases that may be confronted in data analysis. As will be described later, another researcher will be used to verify coding, which will also assist in addressing biases. With consideration to personal biases and expectations, the researcher seeks to be credible as she examines the successes of African American couples who talk about finances in their marriages.

Procedures

The two principal investigators for this study were Dr. Linda Skogrand from Utah State University (USU) and Dr. Cassandra Chaney from Louisiana State University (LSU). Volunteers were recruited in several ways. Some couples responded to a mass electronic announcement in the form of a brochure that invited happily married couples to be interviewed regarding their perspectives on what it takes to have a strong marriage (Appendix A). Other couples were recruited by word of mouth. The first couples interviewed were asked to identify other couples in strong marriages, which resulted in a snowball procedure for further recruitment.

Dr. Chaney contacted volunteers by phone to set up the time and place of the interviews. Dr. Chaney made the phone calls because, as a faculty member at LSU, she would be more likely to be trusted by volunteers. Interviews were conducted in person by Dr. Skogrand and Dr. Chaney over a 2-week time period. The interviewers followed an interview protocol designed to structure the steps in the interview process (Appendix B). Most couples were interviewed in their homes in the Baton Rouge area. Some couples chose to be interviewed in a restaurant, coffee shop, or place of work. Before the interviews began, couples signed a two-page consent letter (Appendix C) which gave further explanation of the purpose of the study and how the findings would be used. Demographic data was then collected by the interviewers and recorded using the form in Appendix D. Finally, interviews were conducted using the interview schedule, which consisted of 29 questions (Appendix E). Interviews were recorded and later transcribed. The couples that completed interviews each received a \$40 gift certificate for their families to a local restaurant of their choosing.

Instrument

The data collection instrument was a semi-structured interview schedule. This instrument was piloted, reviewed, and revised as needed by the principal investigators. Questions regarding marriage preparations, family definition, extended family, children, and strong marriages were included in the interviews (Appendix E). Questions regarding financial matters in marriage were never explicitly asked in the interview; however, financial issues came out in the participants' responses to questions throughout the interviews.

Most of the married couples were interviewed separately. This was encouraged, as individual interviews allowed each spouse to provide their own thoughts about strong marriages. Couples were not interviewed separately when they stated a preference for being interviewed together. The sample for this study included 17 couples who preferred to be interviewed together, while the remaining 20 were interviewed separately. Interviews were audio recorded, then transcribed for analysis.

Sample

The data used for this research study consisted of couples' interviews from the Strong African American Marriages Study. For the purpose of this study, the researcher's focus was to examine how couples talked about finances in their marriages. All complete interviews included data on financial matters in marriage and were consequently used for this study. The sample for this study included participants who talked extensively about the impact of money issues in their marriages. To select the

sample for this study, interview data was reviewed for all financial responses from participants, and those interviews that included financial data were selected for this study. This selection process resulted in the total sample being represented in this study, because all participants contributed financial insights from their marriages.

From the total sample of 37 African American couples who volunteered to be interviewed and completed interviews, all 37 couples' interviews were used for the purpose of this study. Each couple in the sample will be identified with a corresponding number, which is the same number couples were identified by when they were initially interviewed. Couples' identifying numbers fit between two ranges, depending on the interviewer, with some numbers not represented (1 thru 23 and 50-65), totaling 37 couples, or 74 participants.

The demographic breakdown of these couples is as follows. On average, these couples had been married 31 years to their current spouse. The participating couple with the fewest years married had been married 10 years, and the couple that had been married the longest was married 62 years at the time of the study. These couples, on average, were in their fifties. The average age range for the husbands was between 55 and 59 years, and for the wives the average age was between 50 and 54. These couples got married at an average age 26 (husbands) and 24 (wives).

The average education level for these couples, both husbands and wives, was at the Community College level. The average income for these couples was between \$70,000 and \$79,999, where the median U.S. household income was \$52,000 and the mean household income was \$71,000 in 2008 (U.S. Census, 2009c). The lowest income

reported by these couples was less than \$10,000, and the highest income reported was over \$100,000.

Analysis

All financial excerpts of these interviews were pulled as the data for this study. Then data analysis followed a procedure described by Bogdan and Biklen (2003). To begin analysis, Bogdan and Biklen's process was used of reading through the transcribed interviews of the sample several times in long, undisturbed blocks of time in order to get a sense of the "totality" of the data (p. 173). The data was then searched for patterns and regularities in responses. Words and phrases that best represented these patterns were recorded to help represent the initial coding categories. Reading through the data entirely, without interruption, allowed for a sense of the preliminary coding categories. Modifications were made to the preliminary coding scheme as themes surface from the participants' responses. The financial excerpts in the data were numbered and identified by the author for clear coding. Two researchers coded the data independently looking for when couples talked about financial stress and how they talked about making financial decisions. They each used the final coding scheme as a guide to code or categorize the data. After the topic areas were coded, the major themes were determined and the researcher created the research questions, focusing on the two major themes.

The researcher addressed validity in the interview data, checking that the real story was being told by participants, by checking for contradictory statements throughout the interviews. According to Huberman and Miles (1994), qualitative data can be deemed "valid" in the sense that they are probable, reasonable, or likely to be true. This

was the case for the interview data for each couple, in that their statements could be deemed probable, reasonable, and likely to be true. The final chapter of this study further indicates that what these couples talked about was consistent with what other studies have shown, helping to show validity.

Reliability was also addressed, in that an effort was made to check that what was being said by participants was interpreted consistently. In addition to the researcher, another graduate student, familiar with family finance, marital research, and qualitative methodology, was also invited to code the data using a common coding scheme and guide for grouping common themes. When the resulting codes for the two coders were compared, 94% of the coding matched. The 6% of codes in discrepancy were then discussed and the coders went back to the data and came to a consensus about the most appropriate fit.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Based on the findings from 37 couples interviewed, this chapter presents some answers to the aforementioned research questions about how happily married African American couples talk about finances in their marriages. From the original 74 interviews completed, at least one individual in each marriage talked about money issues and addressed at least one of the two research questions. Even thought they were not asked about the topic of finances in their marriages, couples talked about money issues throughout their interviews.

There were two major findings and one unanticipated finding. The first major finding was that 64 out of 74 participants talked about money issues in the context of stress, difficulty, concerns, and challenges as well as responses to stressful financial incidents and circumstances. The second major finding was that 55 out of 74 participants talked about financial decision-making. An unexpected finding of transcending money issues was identified in the data analysis where 32 of 74 participants described transcending or rising above financial issues. Although this was not a pervasive theme, it was worth noting as a finding.

The research questions were organized according to the most pervasive themes in the interview data, beginning with the general question answered by happily married African American couples of (a) how they talked about financial challenges, and (b) how they made financial decisions. Finally, the unanticipated finding will be included of how they felt about finances in the context of transcending money, which will be explained below.

The answers to the above research questions will be addressed using the data from the couple's interviews in which couples provided answers in their own words. The reader should consider that in many instances to preserve the cultural quality of the interviews the participants' own verbiage is preserved rather than being clarified with the author's editing. Additionally, the descriptive themes used by the author to summarize findings also reflected the participants' verbiage. For example, when talking about issues related to occupation, career, and work, note that "job" was the term that these participants used above any other when identifying circumstances that were work-related. Another example is being "on the same page," which was a descriptive phrase that the participants used to talk about being aligned with spousal expectations. When reading the findings, one may identify that patterns of original participant phrases were respectfully used.

Research Question One: How Do Couples Talk about Financial Challenges in Their Marriages?

The interviews with these couples with great marriages did not include any finance-related questions. Despite this, a majority of participants (64 of 74) volunteered that financial struggles were stressors in their marriages. Participants did not always specifically state that "money" or "finances" cause trouble in marriages, but they often gave examples instead, which will be addressed below.

When couples talked about financial challenges in their marriages, they identified three types of financial challenges. One challenge for couples was not having enough money, which included not having enough money to get by and for unexpected expenses.

These couples talked about how this challenge affected their relationships and how they tried to make each other happy when money was tight. Another challenge for couples was that they were not on the same page about what they were doing with their money which included selfishness and entitlement. These couples described how they got on the same page with their spending. The last major challenge that couples talked about was employment stress such as job loss or job-related stress. These couples also talked about coping with job-related stress.

Couples brought up financial challenges frequently as a cause of stress in marriage. Thirty-eight of 74 husbands and wives volunteered some form of the concept "financial challenges" explicitly in talking about what would cause difficulty in marriage. To illustrate the kind of responses they gave, some examples of participants' answers are provided:

Finance is a thing that could definitely destroy [a] marriage. (Wife 7)

I think the biggest problems for a couple, I mean you can read this because there's probably research or stats about this, but I think a lot of the time it's money. (Husband 6)

Finances is the number one adversary of a marriage. (Wife 19)

A lot of times the major cause of most difficulties in the relationship that I know—bottom line is finance. Financial things aren't happening the way they should. (Husband 64)

While this introduction to financial challenges is not meant to delineate the specific types or consequences of financial challenges that were prevalent for these couples, (as they will be discussed later), several couples made a point of saying that financial trouble may lead to other challenges in marriages as described in the following statements:

The money thing. It's over money. Probably 95% or more problems come from economics. It might be cloaked in different things, but when you start drilling down, it goes back to [money]. (Husband 18)

Finance is one of the greatest challenges. When your finances are going awry, then a lot of other things start to come into play. You're upset about this, but you start thinking about this and thinking about that. If you let those things come in, it disrupts the program. (Husband 54)

And I think their difficulties stem from external problems or they may have financial problems that cause some concerns. (Husband 60)

Several couples talked about financial challenges in terms of couples staying together or not on account of such challenges. One husband said, "If you notice a break up of a marriage, most of the time it's [over] money" (Husband 1). One couple talked about a time when they considered getting a divorce. Both the husband and wife identified the cause as being financial. The wife explained that the cause of considering divorce was, "When we started going through a rough financial thing" (Wife 3).

Pinching Pennies to Get By

When these couples talked about financial challenges, many indicated that not having enough money was difficult for them. In good humor, one husband identified that the kinds of difficulties that couples experience are most commonly one of two issues. "Finances," he said, "Finances or sex. That's usually the issues. It's either you ain't getting enough of one or you ain't getting enough of the other!" This husband was not alone in emphasizing the challenge of not getting enough of the one, money. Many couples talked about not making a lot of money and having difficulty covering all of the necessary expenses at times. One husband expressed the following:

I'm a strong believer that many marriages that do not succeed, many times it's based in a lack of adequate finances. You end up with two people who have been primarily dependent on their parents and all of a sudden they become independent

and they've never really had the hardships that come along with being, you know, responsible for something. You're responsible for utilities, you're responsible for the rent or the home mortgage. You're responsible for the car note, you're responsible for everything. But you're doing this now, and you've never really had to step up to realize that it takes more money than you thought. (Husband 13)

This husband went on to say how not having enough money can affect marriage relationships, "I believe that some of the initial arguments or disagreements begin with, are based on, the lack of finances—in what's mine, what's yours, and then you start from that in growing apart." (Husband 13)

When asked about differences in strong marriages in the Black culture versus the White culture, one wife stated:

It could be income, 'cause in the Black community the biggest issue in marriage, in my opinion, is money. Because it just is. I mean, if you talk to people, and they're getting upset, most of the time it's about money—the lack of. Not because we got all this money and I wanna buy a company. . . . It's just getting by. It's about food, it's about keeping your lights on. It's about the kids, their shoes don't fit. (Wife 54)

Meeting needs. The concerns of getting by were echoed in what many participants had to say about stretching income to meet family needs. One wife stated, "We had to scratch for everything. Every single thing" (Wife 3). Another wife talked about really having to "pinch pennies" and being accountable for every penny spent (Wife 1). Many couples described tending to the needs of their families and the pressure of having enough monetary resources to make ends meet. One husband explained:

I've had some financial difficulties that were pretty bad. Ran out of formula and had no money, and for me that was bad because I prided myself on being able to take care of my family and meet their needs. I mismanaged the dollars and, you know, I've got a hungry child and nothing to feed him. (Husband 60)

Another husband talked about low points in his marriage where being able to afford gifts in the family was difficult:

Some of the low points in the marriage was when we weren't financially able to do how we wanted to do around Christmas holidays. I felt real bad, me being the head of the house. And a couple of times, we weren't even able to give each other a gift. But we took it in stride and said, "Okay, we're not goin' to worry about it. Let's make sure these kids are okay, you know, and that was a low point for me. Because I always like to see her looking good. I always like to see her smiling from a gift. (Husband 19)

Couples also talked about difficulty meeting needs when they talked about not having enough money to pay the bills. Couples were not always specific about the kinds of bills they were paying, but some mentioned car payments, utilities, rent or mortgage payments, and credit card bills. When asked about low points in her marriage, one wife responded, "Oh, if I didn't have enough money to pay my bills, [that] was a low point! That will be my low points, if my electric bill due and I don't have the money" (Wife 52).

Unexpected expenses. Some couples had the expectation that they would be able to keep up with expenses, and then unexpected incidents occurred and would create stress in their marriages. Finances were cited as a problem for marriages, especially in times when the couples had little control over money trouble. One wife gave the example of medical issues, increases in house payments or gas rates as being stressful, as they had not been planned for (Wife 64). One husband provided the following as another example:

The main thing that I think could cause us to have difficulties now is . . . sometimes we get paying bills and sometimes our bills run over what we expect. That would cause difficulty. You might think your check is enough to cover this bill, what happened to the other money? And you say well, I pay bills and I didn't have money for anything, spent money for anything else. But you don't know where the money went. Through some turn there, there was an extra bill that you weren't expecting. (Husband 1)

Impact on the relationship. Many of the couples gave the perspective of what it was like to work through financial difficulties in strong marriages. They also had

observed others' experiences and the effect on marriage relationships. Many of them talked about lack of finances putting a strain on their marriages. "A lot of people who don't have the necessary finances tend to grow apart because of that. It starts there and sometimes it just mushrooms into you know, other things" (Wife 13). One husband said, "People could be in love, but if they're starving then they're going to start going after each other" (Husband 18).

Many couples did not always go into detail on how they responded to financial stress, but those who did gave some useful insights. Couples often briefly mentioned that they "worked to overcome these challenges" (Wife 59), "discussed problems" (Husband 64), "bounced back from financial difficulty" (Husband 15), "trusted God" (Husband 61), "rolled with it" (Wife 21), accepted things they couldn't change (Wife 5), "stuck together" (Husband 23), and "continued to try to make ends meet" (Wife 4). Another wife said the following:

The Bible says that you're going to have harvest time where everything is growing great, the corn is good, the tomatoes are fresh. And then you're going to have your dry season where nothing is growing. And we know that in our economics statuses sometimes your banks account looks good. Sometimes it don't. So you have to be able to say though when it doesn't look good, ya'll, you both have to agree that okay this is what we're gonna have to do because the color ain't looking so great. We have to cut back. We have to rearrange some things. We have to not eat out as much or we can't entertain as much or that kind of thing. So it's being able to withstand. (Wife 19)

One husband followed up talk about lack of money with this, "You have to be willing to sacrifice economically.

Making each other happy. Couples also talked about how they treated their spouse when money was tight. "Even if you know you're short of money, you have to do the things to keep each other happy" (Husband 18). An example of a husband doing

things to make his wife happy in a financially difficult time is provided in the following, where a wife is explaining a high point in her marriage:

We had strong financial struggles. And it was my birthday and we didn't have any money. We didn't have a vehicle, and I decided that I would go to church since we couldn't do anything else. And somebody picked me up. But when I came home my husband said that he'd found \$2 worth of change . . . and I came home from church and he told me that I found \$2 worth of change in the house. And he walked to a Albertson's—got the lady next door. He started off walking and the lady next door took him to Albertson's and he bought a Ding Dong because I love Ding Dongs, and a packet of hot chocolate, and I love hot chocolate. So when I came home—he had a candle and the ding dong with a cup of hot chocolate, told me Happy Birthday. And I've had birthdays since then where he bought me a diamond ring or something, but that was the best birthday I ever had. Because I just felt it. I just felt it. It helped me to appreciate the other times. (Wife 54)

Couples sometimes volunteered remedies for financial challenges of not having enough money. One husband lightened a bad situation in his marriage where he and his wife had talked about the possibility of a divorce. In his case, he made an argument of how not having enough money was an excuse for them to stay together. When asked about whether or not he ever considered divorce, he responded:

No, I mean I think we all in marriage, it cross your mind. I ain't never acted on it, you know. Yes, you may be mad at times, and you probably think, "Know what? I think I'll leave you at the mall and move on." But once you look at the bigger picture, you say, wait now, I think she's worth it to stick it out. So yes, it cross your mind, but it never get to the point where I had a counselor acted upon it. I know I did one time, she was fussing at me, "I'm getting a divorce!" So I think that was gonna cost me \$1,972.13. She said how you know? I looked it up. So since then we ain't never had that comment no more. Yeah, I looked up. I know what it's gonna cost me. This is how much it's gonna cost me. I already know. I'll start making payments next month if you wanna go. (Husband 17)

After that explanation, he turned to his wife and said, "I got you laughing on that one."

Not Being on the Same Page

An important finding about financial challenges was where the couples were not

on the same page with their financial decisions, which is the way they described when they were unaligned with their expectations. The topic that came up the most had to do with the couples' alignment with goals, expectations, and spending. One husband gave a good description of how this could be challenging:

Things that end up causing difficulties, again, issues of expectations, goals, you know, what your goals are. I think when they're significantly different they're gonna inevitably lead to significant issues. . . . I think both people know how much money they have and whatever. I think it's clearly some kind of issue of what your expectations are. And if they're so significantly different that tends to lend itself to difficulties. (Husband 12)

Another husband gave a clear description of how Black couples might be unaligned in their spending expectations. "Oftentimes I have seen marriages fall apart because . . . we find ourselves unaligned whether it's educationally, religiously, expectations, economically" (Husband 56).

Another said, "I think having different ideas about what's important to spend money on can cause issues" (Wife 60). Those simple personal preferences made a big difference for couples. Many couples talked about being "equally yoked" in terms of how financial decisions were made to avoid problems (Wife 7, Husband 56). Those marriages in which the husband or wife tried to control the other or where one personality was domineering over the other were said to be troubled (Husband 56, Wife 56). One husband illustrated how challenges like differences in money attitudes can create problems in marriage:

They should be able to look at the spending habits, of the other one and see if they gonna be able to deal with it and not say, "Oh, this gonna change." Because some things will never change. If they're gonna live with it, well, go for it. . . . If you going into a marriage and somebody has already accumulated so much debt, it's gonna be part of yours. Or somebody who spends, you know, uncontrollably and maybe doesn't know how to budget or something. You just have to sit down

when you're dating and see if that person can come around to doing this thing. If not, love is great, but you in for some trouble. (Husband 16)

Selfishness. Some couples talked about how selfishness could damage marriage relationships. One husband described how husbands and wives sometimes have a self-centered perspective that can damage relationships: "I want the money spent the way I want it spent" (Husband 53). Couples talked about how financial decisions made in only the best interest of the individual can be damaging to relationships. One husband explained:

Some couples [have difficulties with] mainly money. Not only money, but respect for one another. . . . You know, even though they're still together, but it's still not a happy, healthy relationship. There's something about that money. And not only that but, selfishness, but it's still with the money. My money. Your money, you know. It's not ours. (Husband 19)

It's because no one is really being responsible, and what I mean by that is you can't just go on a spending spree when you're in a marriage because it takes both incomes to really have a decent life. And if one goes overboard it's going to put an imbalance in the marriage because you're going to be always struggling and fighting about money. (Wife 7)

Other couples similarly noted selfishness and how they tried to avoid it. One wife explained, "When you have somebody just going for their own selfish reasons doing, just going off on their own, then it can cause problems" (Wife 23). Another wife described the early stages of her own marriage and also observed the experience of her coworkers. She stated:

I had a few problems out of him those first few years, you know. He resisted that being a real husband you know. But shoot, after a while, he gave up! (laughs) A lot of women have problems with their husbands not coming home or not bringing the money home. I never had that problem with him, you know. I worked at two chemical plants for over 30 years and I would listen to the guys, they couldn't wait to get off, but they weren't running home, they were running to the bars or whatever. (Wife 5)

Another wife explained how couples can live very separate lives and how damaging financial decisions can be when they are not in consideration of their spouse:

We know couples that they married, but they ain't married. They don't share or do anything together. I think too, if I put us in a financial bondage, [if] I did it deliberately, to jeopardize, I think he'd leave. He'd say, "That's it." Not if I lost a job or something, but if I deliberately put us in financial bondage, he would leave. So that will be a territory I will never go into because I know how he is about that. (Wife 6)

Entitlement. Others couples detailed how one spouse's feelings of entitlement could be detrimental to marriage relationships. Several participants described the entitled attitude:

I go back to the economics. Some people, they get to a certain point and all is, they think they entitled to a certain amount. So it's like she say, "I need a Rolls Royce. And I need this, I need new furniture, and I need the best of this and that." And luckily she's not that way, but that's what I would see as about the only thing like that, 'cause I've seen it happen. All of a sudden these people just become unreasonable. They figured they entitled. Okay, I worked so now I'm entitled to this and that, and it's, you know, that don't make sense. (Husband 18)

"I'm gonna go borrow some money 'cause I'm working." That backfired. Not good. (Wife 10)

Several of the participants who talked about entitlement talked about it in terms of putting those feelings over the needs of the household. They also offered some suggestions about how a husband and wife can get on the same page and know what they expect to do with their money:

But if all that isn't talked about up front, then it could lead to a lot of misunderstanding problems. A person could see another friend having this and all these material things and you can't afford it at that time, and then you know, you'd be commenting on what the person had. I know some marriages that broke up just for material things. And I don't want to sound sexist, but those that I have known who have broken up for material things, it's usually the woman pointing out to some things that she would like. "Look what am I driving, and look what my friend's driving," and pointing. So it's some other things like, if you don't sit

down in a very honest way and address these issues out front then it could become a problem later. (Husband 15)

You may not think that finances are important in a marriage, but it is. . . . I hear about couples [where] one makes the money and the other spends. It's gonna breed some kind of discord. So it's okay if you want to spend, to spend reasonably. (Wife 16)

I think any money that you have could be enough. It depends on how you use and how you spend it. If you wanna go ahead and buy a \$500 dress even though you don't have money to pay the bills, now that's, then you got a problem with that because you gotta pay your household. You know, you just can't say I'm gonna go buy this and the household [suffers], or nothing like that. You can't do that. (Wife 65)

Getting on the same page. Couples sometimes identified ways to overcome the financial challenges associated with conflicting money perspectives and lack of alignment. After addressing the dangers of focusing on "me, me, me," one husband suggested thinking from the perspective, "What do we want to do? How do we want to spend the money?" (Husband 53). One wife who worked in counseling also addressed this:

What I'm trying to do even in my program is to try to work with couples, to try to show them how to budget, and how to plan it. You can't do things on the spur of the moment. You may be able to do some little luxury kind of things. Like, sometimes we going to the park is a simple luxury, that they can't really enjoy right now 'cause they're robbing Peter to pay Paul. (Wife 7)

Another husband talked about putting his wife and family before himself:

I make considerably more money than my wife does, but I don't tell her, "Well, I'm gonna go out and get me a new truck and you drive this old raggedy car or whatever." Matter of fact, I put her in the forefront. I put her, I'll drive the raggedy truck. Because my wife and my kids come first. (Husband 64)

Several participants talked about how couples can learn to appreciate each other and learn from the unique attributes of their own marriages to address challenges:

No mate wants to feel like [they've been taken for granted]. You really have to be in tune with each other. . . . We just try to be extra, extra careful, or aware of each other, even when there are other things going on like . . . maybe some kind of financial something going on, not to lose each other in the shuffle. We don't take each other for granted. (Husband 23)

You have to recognize that every marriage is unique. There's no cookie cutter approach to the whole thing, I think. And so there's elements of what we do in our lifestyle and our marriage that other people look at and say, "You do that?" "Yes, we do." (Husband 55)

One wife shared that people have weaknesses when they come into marriages, but she explained, "My husband told me that weaknesses were meant to be overcome. You may have the weakness of overspending, but you can work on it. It's important to be willing to meet each other halfway. Adjust what you need to adjust" (Wife 16). One husband gave an additional explanation:

If the spouse should need something and you just can't afford it, sometimes that creates strain in a marriage. Unless there's that mutual understanding. And there again it comes back to goals and values because when I proposed to my wife and we talked through these things, we just indicated that we wanted certain things in life, so we are willing to make the sacrifice. (Husband 15)

Job Stress

Many couples identified employment-related challenges as causing strain on marriages. For some couples, being without employment, the loss of income from job loss, or changes in employment were financial challenges for them.

Job loss. When asked about what could cause difficulty in marriage, many participants identified job loss. One wife responded, "When I was out of a job, we had to maintain this house and all of our bills under that drastic reduced income" (Wife 6). One husband identified a low point in his marriage with the following: "One time she was without work, out of work for a while. Things were kind of tight" (Husband 63).

Similarly, his wife agreed, "At one time when we moved back from my mother's house, I didn't have a job for nine months, so that was kind of a low point" (Wife 63).

Not having a job was identified by couples as a financial challenge. Speaking for her husband, one wife said that her husband had to struggle to find jobs and was paid "\$20,000 less" than White men (Wife 7).

As soon as we signed the papers for the house, maybe the next month or so, he was unemployed. We [had] planned to double up on our mortgage payments. Boy, some nights we'd just, boy we shouldn't have built this house, you know, we were doing good in that old house! We had money. . . . We had always been you know, financially stable. (Wife 5)

This wife continues to talk about the effect on her marriage by saying, "I was the only one working for about three to four months and that's one time that we weren't getting along too well!" (Wife 5).

Work adjustments. Adjustments to changes in work were also cited by couples as being stressful in their marriages. One husband explained, "What are stressful times? When you're goin' through changes. And change might be a change of jobs" (Husband 55). Several couples' work adjustments were described as a low point in their marriage, particularly when the main provider role changed due to outside factors. "It was really, really hard, and the reason it was hard was because my husband had always been the sole provider. Our situation was something that happened that was completely out of his control" (Wife 3). Her husband also talked about this challenge, saying, "I didn't want [her] to work. I wanted to take care of everything. I had been doing that for almost 20 years" (Husband 3).

Family and work conflict. Another challenge discussed by couples had to do with conflicts between family and work. One husband identified stressful times saying,

"It may be a change in the lifestyle in terms of spending *x* amount of time in your profession, for example, away from someone. They feel like they're not cared for" (Husband 55). Others provided related insights:

Sometimes my job would be imposing on my husband, you know, if he had to stay there and I had to go to a meeting at night or during the day. And then if his job, if he had, you know he mentioned that he had to drive the bus sometimes when he was teaching school because personnel was short at that time and, then it would put an imposition on me and the kids. (Wife 1)

[If] I'm working too much, not having time, not spending enough time with one another. That's one, you know, that's one of the main problems. That's one of the main, main problems. The time. Because the truth of the matter is, if you have enough time, if a person feels that they have enough time, then you can work everything else out. Finances, everything. Because you've got enough time you can sit down and talk about the finances and they don't have to creep up on you. If you have enough time you can talk about the children before the situation gets bad or come to an agreement. And hear each other. (Husband 54)

This husband continued by talking about taking the time to have good communication with family amidst work conflicts to improve a challenging situation. He says, "You gotta listen. Fools don't like to listen! They like to talk, but they don't like to listen. And if you're only talking then you're not hearing. And if you're not hearing then you're not reaching no solution" (Husband 54).

Another husband told about observing the conflict between work and family in his father's situation and what he learned from that in his own life:

I made some decisions that cost me, cost my family in some ways. My dad worked construction, so he was only home Friday night to Sunday, and then he was on the road, which I thought was a great way to go, because you didn't have to be bothered with your wife all week. And I did that for a little while. I worked with him in construction. (Husband 60)

This husband continued by explaining his own decision over work and family. "So I said I want to be at home with my kids. And so I did not pursue some job opportunities that

would have paid more. . . . And I just decided that I'd struggle financially more than I would be gone" (Husband 60).

Dealing with job stress. Many couples talked about coping with job stress, and most coping focused on job loss. Some participants mentioned their approaches to coping with employment-related financial challenges. "You've got to be one to say ok, this is what it is," said one wife. "It is what it is, let's deal with it" (Wife 6). Several participants specifically recommended preparing for financial challenges like job loss in the following way:

One income goes, and if you haven't prepared for it—meaning that you need to have at least three months' of savings put aside that you can go to kind of tie you over till somebody else gets a job, because hopefully you gotta get something else. But you've got to prepare for those things, prepare for the unexpected. (Wife 1)

Some things happen in some marriages, for example, one of those spouses loses their job and when you're out of a job for even one month now, if you don't have a cushion built up you gonna suffer and your marriage is going to suffer. (Wife 7)

Other couples described getting on the same page about employment expectations. One wife talked about how she and her husband figured out how they could get him through school instead of quitting in order for him to get a job to provide for a family. She said, "I think [it] would have cause problems if I had really relied on other people to help me decide on what to do instead of talking with him" (Wife 55).

Other responses couples had to financial challenges like job loss included attitudes of resiliency:

It's just [about] each day learning to adjust and adapt and roll with the punches. You never know when you might lose a job . . . when adversity gets you—certain things you have no control over. You better be certain about who you are and have the course of values that will keep you going regardless of what happens to knock you down. You can get up again realizing, "Hey, there's no ending to this

thing called life." Just [get] up every day and work, work, work, and accumulate and grab whatever you need. (Wife 15)

One husband summarized that after his wife was without work and money was tight, "We survived, and I guess it made us stronger in the long run" (Husband 63).

Research Question Two: How Do Couples Talk about Making Financial Decisions in their Marriages?

When couples in this study talked about finances in their marriages, they did not always talk about it in the context of stressful incidents, strain, and challenges.

Frequently, couples talked about the financial decision-making in their marriages without the context of stress. Fifty-five of 74 participants in this study gave insights into financial decision-making in response to questions that were not about finances.

These couples talked about financial decisions in three ways. The most prevalent descriptions of financial decisions were in couples' descriptions of some of their financial behaviors. The second finding was that they also talked about their general approaches to money management and financial decisions. The last major finding was how couples described planning financially.

Financial Behaviors

While the range of money management activities couples dealt with day-to-day were not specifically discussed or spoken of in detail during the interviews, couples gave insights about their financial behaviors. The most pervasive was spending, followed by budget-related issues, joining resources, homeownership, and employment decisions.

Spending. Many couples talked about not having to spend a lot of money to be happy:

I had a girlfriend that would tease him and call him "One Buck Baker" (laughing) because [my husband] was always carrying me to the dollar movie. (laughing) Those were fun times and we always enjoyed it. . . . I always would tell him, and it's still true today, it didn't take much to please me. Take me to a movie and bring me out to dinner, you won me, I'm sold, I'm happy. (Wife 19)

I've never been a burden on him—like some people go to the store and shop and not look at a price tag. You can't pay me to do that. I'm going like, "No, is that 80% off yet?" He will tell you I will go back and forth to stores, love this dress, never forget, I wanted that dress so bad I'm going like, Oh Lord, I can't pay that much money for that dress. But when they marked it down to about \$22 I says, "Oh yeah, I can pay for that now." I will wait it out, but that's how I am. I'm real thrifty, I'm not going to overspend. (Wife 7)

This wife continues by describing her husband:

He's just not one of these peoples who's gonna be splurging and spontaneously going out there and just buying all this stuff. He's not going to do that. So when bonuses or something come in I say, "Baby go for it, it's yours." He deserves that nice treat. (Wife 7)

Other couples who had gotten to a point in their lives where they did not have to be as careful about spending. One wife explained, "For the most part, anything that I want, if I know I really need or really want, I don't have an issue; he don't have an issue—I can get it" (Wife 2). Other couples talked about spending money on or with their spouses happily:

We did pretty much the traditional things, like we went to movies, went to dinner, and because he was in the military for several of those early years, so when he would come home, he had more money! I was a student, using my money that I was making to pay bills, so I think in a way I probably got a little extra special treating because money was not a issue, so we can go to nice restaurants, we can go to movies, plays, and do things that probably regular students wouldn't have the monies to do. (Wife 2)

Since day one, if she gonna start looking at it too hard, she don't even gotta ask me for it. She could just stare at it and I'm gonna get it. If we got the money right then and there she comin' home with it. Ain't no, "Okay, we gonna wait until next time." (Husband 14)

Joining resources. The majority of couples who talked about money management talked about how they chose to "pool their resources together" (Wife 1) and jointly pay for things from "one pot" (Wife 61). Many couples described what it meant to them to come together financially:

You have to understand, once you become one, everything is one. It's all one deal. . . . It's not yours and mine. It's not that I can't see what's in your account and you can't see what's in mine. No, it's all one. We have the opportunity to put everything on one accord. (Husband 8)

I'm real old school. I was taught by my mom and dad that you've gotta put all that money together 'cause that's what a true marriage is, and it comes in one pot. But I'm very open. I say, "Well, Honey, any time you want the checkbook it's yours." But all the money needs to be put in one pile so we can stretch it so much further. (Wife 7)

Several couples were specific about how their accounts were joined and how they were able to pay the bills together. Many of them talked about this in the form of giving advice to others as something that worked well for them. One wife talked about how she and her husband started "pooling their monies together," and it was a good tool in their marriage (Wife 5). Another wife said, "I have the checkbook, he has the debit card, and it's on one account" (Wife 8). This wife explained that when couples split the bills, they, themselves, become separated. She said, "You have to start [having] unity with the whole marriage. . . . You have to have unity in your everyday." Her husband agreed by stating, "The bills need to be paid on one card" (Husband 8). When these couples talked about joining money in these ways, showing unity was the reason that many of them gave for handling their finances together:

[My husband] and I, we have one account. We do one account on everything. We have one checking account. We have one savings account. We have all the bills on just one bill. We pay everything on one bill. This "his and hers" and "ours and theirs," that to me is separation in a marriage. When you get married you one. God say unity; you one. Everything should be one. You all should have one checking account, one savings account. . . . I say you still have unity when you do everything together and I think doing one account, everything one, your bills are one, your accounts are one, everything is one, that's showing unity in one. (Wife 8)

Even where one spouse was primarily responsible for taking care of the accounts and paying the bills, these couples still showed unity even when mistakes were made.

This wife continues:

I pretty much have been the financial person, taking care of everything . . . even in the times when it doesn't work, because I forgot to pay something. Like the water bill— and I wondered, "Was the water turned off for everybody in the neighborhood?" (laughs) And found out it was just turned off for us (laughs) 'cause the bill was on the floor in my car (laughs). But, even in [those] instances, we laugh it off. I went to the store and I bought jugs of water as if the hurricane was coming (laughs). (Wife 2).

Budgeting. Couples also described budgeting, or learning to spend within limits. One wife described it in this way, "We were living within our means, and we still could do some things on the side, splurge a little bit now and again" (Wife 7). Other couples talked about how they learned to keep on target with their budgeting:

[In the early years], of course, we didn't have as much, so we had to be careful and budget a lot. (Wife 2)

I also learned not to say, "I'll go and buy something," if it wasn't in the budget at the time or whatever. (Wife 65)

If it's in the budget—that's why we make out our budget. We figure out what we need as far as rent, the phone, the house phone, cell phones. After we figure out all that, how much all that's gonna cost—whatever we got left, Man, let's do what we wanna do. (Husband 14)

Another wife described how looking at the budget would help determine if she and her husband could go out or stay in, "Look, we got \$20 for the week," and in response, "Okay, I ain't gonna go nowhere!" (Wife 10).

Several couples described how staying within a budget was beneficial for them.

One wife gave budgeting advice based on her and her husband's experience:

Don't use credit cards. Learn to live off cash. Learn to do without for just a short period and not worry about what people will say. Because if you'll do that, then over time you'll be able to do what you need to do. And other people who seem to be getting ahead of you—well, really you'll find out that they're not ahead, they're just in debt. They have it, but it's costing them. (Wife 60)

Employment. For many couples, employment was given as an example of a financial decision. These couples talked about why they chose to work and employment's role in their marriages. Many couples talked about providing for their families, and providing for family was a primary reason for husbands and wives to work. One husband explained, "All I did was go to work. My job was to make sure I provided the money to provide them certain things" (Husband 18). Another husband talked about how he had learned from his father "how to hustle and keep money on the table." He explained, "I want to take care of my family. You keep your eyes open on what's expected of you as a husband—what you need to be doing, what you should do" (Husband 10).

Sometimes job decisions included making sacrifices. One wife talked about how she went to work at a job that required her to be gone for most of the week. She explained, "That was [all] I could get to generate income. . . . We had to do that in order to generate income for my family" (Wife 3).

Several couples talked about the wife's decision to stay home, to work, or both.

Often times, wives described their husbands' perspectives on them working, which often reflected that many of these husbands preferred to be the primary provider and hoped that their wives could be home with the children:

I was a housewife for 10 years. I didn't work. [My husband] wanted me to stay home with our children. I decided to agree with him and say that's what I will do. We had talked about it prior that if I were to have children he would prefer me to be home with them and he would work and take care of them. (Wife 11)

We had agreed that she would be home with the children, so she didn't enter the work force until after they were well into school—middle school, high school. And even then it was just part time so that she was available for them. So it's harder on one income, the way the economy is. So it's like, this is a sacrifice for the kids. (Husband 60)

Husbands often described how they approached employment decisions. Those husbands who talked about their jobs talked about the responsibility they felt to be the provider for their families:

I was working so I knew I would be able to have a family and continue to go to school. I wanted to be a provider for my family. (Husband 18)

I had to be more committed. I had to be more responsible. I had a wife now; I got to provide for her. And if I have children, I knew I had to provide for them. So that was an adjustment I had to make. (Husband 63)

Other couples talked about how their spouses' decisions to work was respected and appreciated. "I'm happy about the fact that I married someone who has done what he has done, because it's allowed me to do the things that I do without a lot of worry about how the bills are going to get paid" (Wife 15). When one husband described how his wife made more money than he did, he explained, "I'm comfortable with who I am, and I told her, 'You gonna make some more money? I hope you become a millionaire. Hell,

I'll stay home and I won't work. And it wouldn't have bothered me at all" (Husband 6). His wife responded with the following:

I don't throw that in his face. That's another thing. You can't throw it in their face about it. Even when he gets to trippin' about money, I don't throw it in his face. . . . Again, that goes back to the respect. You respect your husband for who and what he is. (Wife 6)

Homeownership. Homeownership was also discussed as a major financial decision for these couples. Often, buying a house was identified by couples as a high point in their marriages. They also talked about homeownership as an indication of an accomplishment or as a reflection of financial success. One husband said, "The one highest point in my life—when we paid our house off. That first house we bought, we paid it off" (Husband 1). Other participants had similar feelings:

A high point was getting the house, because we always talk about getting a house. And we stayed in an apartment for 14 years. Come home, just laying in the house, cooking and going to sleep. This time we've changed. We have a child now, so we, like I said, we were patient and saving money to a certain point and just working together. (Husband 10)

When we bought our first home. That was a high point for me. I was 21.... That was exciting at a young age like that. As I look back at it it's like wow, we had our own home at a young age. And we didn't have a car and [my husband] used to ride this bus to work, ride the bike so that was a high point to me. Owning my own home at 21. (Wife 11)

These couples talked about making the decision for homeownership a joint decision, where they could both be a part of the process:

He got the house, he got furniture for the house, he gave me money to get things for the house, 'cause I was working. I was doing nanny work, but he wanted to give me money so that it would be both of us, it would be like both of us getting it for the house. And it was things like that that really let me know that it was right, it was right. (Wife 23)

Approaches to Money Management

Couples talked throughout their interviews about how they generally approached financial decisions. They talked about how they discussed important decisions and were able to make decisions jointly.

Discussion and joint decisions. When couples talked about how they made financial decisions, most described how they would communicate with each other about making major decisions like buying or selling a house, or a car, or making job changes. These couples indicated that they were trusting of their spouses to make small financial decisions without needing to discuss them as a couple, but when larger amounts of money were involved, they consulted each other. Most commonly, couples talked about how they would make those decisions together. Couples talked about making larger decisions "unselfishly" and "weighing the options" with their spouse (Husband 2). One husband explained the philosophy he used with financial decisions, "I don't do anything without her knowledge" (Husband 51). His attitude about making financial decisions was echoed in other things he said:

Never [make] a decision without the other. That's just one of the things. Now, she doesn't have to. I don't hold her to things like, she have to call me before she gets ready to buy anything, whatever it is, but that's a respect I give her. (Husband 51)

If I'm in a position where I need to make [a decision] right now, I know [my husband] well enough to say, "I know how [he's] is gonna feel about this, so we'll do this." But at the same time I've learned to not even take that for granted—that even though I know this is what you're gonna say, I feel that I need to ask you, "Is this what you think?" And for him—when I think back, he never makes a decision without calling me. And I remember I used to get so annoyed! You called to ask me, "Can we do this?" You know I don't care! I never appreciated the fact that he really wanted to know how I felt, and he didn't want to just take for granted that you were okay with it. Yeah, I appreciate that. Recently he was buying something, and I was at a rehearsal at church, and he stayed in the dressing room

until I got there, because he wanted me to see, because he wanted my opinion about it before he made the decision. (Wife 54)

Generally financial decisions were made together; however, some couples also talked about one spouse making the decisions. Being primarily responsible for managing the money meant primarily making financial decisions. One husband explained:

There are things that I don't feel as comfortable making a decision about that I refer to her. And I feel that it doesn't make me less of a man by letting her make decisions on things that I think, "You're strong in this. You can deal with this better than I can deal with it. So let's go with your decision." If you're good at something, say, managing the money, then okay, you take care of that. . . . I had to learn that you don't have to make all the decisions, and I think that works out. (Husband 50)

Often these couples still indicated that major decisions were still a joint effort.

One wife explained, "For a couple of years he handled it. For a couple of years I handled it. You know— whoever we thought handled it the best. But nobody really handles anything by themselves" (Wife 10). Others gave similar views:

He feels comfortable making decisions for certain things, and I feel comfortable making decisions for certain things, but for something major we gotta come together. Right now we're looking for some land to buy, saving money, and trying to get ready to build. When it comes down to that, I can't make that decision by myself. I wouldn't want to make that decision by myself. (Wife 50)

You have to be kind of sound in the relationship and can trust each other's judgment to come to that point. . . . Initially I would imagine with everything you sit down and talk about it the first 5-7 years. But after that you get to know each other, "I know that your judgment is sound," and vice versa. All that I do is just [give] individual input [and a] stamp of approval. (Husband 15)

This husband continues to talk about major purchases:

I could see if we are gonna sell our house, now, that would be something that we'd have to talk about! That's too major, you couldn't do that! One person couldn't just go out and sell, I'm calling this real estate agent and we are gonna sell. No, no. That would have to be a joint thing.

Money attitudes. Some participants talked about how the financial attitudes they brought into the marriage were important in their decision to marry. Others talked about how understanding each other's attitudes about money helped them know what to expect in marriage. One wife explained:

That was one of the good qualities that he had. He was always very conservative with the money to the extent where that was seriously one of the reasons why I married him. It was this wonderful balance. I was extravagant; he was conservative. So we reached a happy medium. (Wife 56)

Other couples gave similar views on how it was important to understand their spouse's attitudes about money and being willing to talk about their opinions:

What is important to you as an individual? What do you think is important to your mate as an individual? If they see that what's important to one is not important to the other, it's probably not gonna work out unless you develop strategies before you get into this relationship and decide how you're going to marry these two attitudes and opinions. [What's] important to them with money management? I see so many times where that's a huge factor. (Wife 55)

But most of the time with me, I know how she feels. We've been together 25 years and married. . . . So I try to think about how she feels or what she might do, and if I think it's something she's gonna feel really strongly about I probably won't make a decision unless I just have to, have to. Otherwise it's gonna wait until I can talk to her. (Husband 64)

When talking about financial decisions, these couples were on the same page, and tried to be in agreement with their spouses. They expressed flexibility and good communication. One husband made the following recommendation:

You've been doing this all the while—the woman, you've been managing the money all the while? Okay, try to let him manage it, okay? Or you've been managing money; try to let her manage it. Or you all have been doing it separately, try together. Or she likes to spend, she likes to have a credit card, so okay, let's cut up some of the credit cards. You know, don't have eight credit cards! Good Lord! Try to focus on doing something different because as a person said once, he said, "Insanity is expecting a change, but yet doing the same old thing." Well, if you really, really want to change you gotta try something different. (Husband 54)

Planning Ahead

Couples who talked about financial decisions indicated how they prepared for the future or planned ahead. Couples talked about jobs, saving, and preparations for spending when they talked about planning ahead financially.

Jobs. Some of the personal preparations that these participants talked about often included getting a job or working:

I finished school. I had gotten a job. I knew I wanted to be in a relationship with a man who wanted to have the same goals and basically wanted the same things that I wanted. (Wife 17)

We talked about what each of us could bring to the family. I said, "Now, we have to have good jobs. And we have to prepare ourselves for these jobs." (Wife 1)

I was working and going to school so I knew that I could provide for my family. (Husband 18)

Many of the couples talked about planning ahead in terms of preparing for marriage to their spouses. One wife described the following:

I don't think I did a lot of preparation other than again trying to streamline what my husband and [I] could really afford to do. . . . So that was preparation in terms of not going overboard or expecting too much from the beginning, you know. Learning how to creep before we walk. And that was something else that we had to learn and preparing for what we didn't have. Look at what we could not afford, and that we were going to take things slowly, and grow together, and expand together in whatever way that we could. (Wife 15)

Saving. Saving was an important financial objective for a few couples before they got married as well as during marriage. As a preparation for marriage, one husband said, "I tried to build up a large savings so I would be able to go through the marriage experience without debt" (Husband 60). When one husband was asked about adjustments he made to get ready for marriage, he responded, "We would save.

Whatever we got, we would save a little bit. And we say we [were] saving for a rainy

day" (Husband 4). One wife explained that she and her now husband decided that they could get married at the point they felt that they had the resources, after dating for "a good while" (Wife 1).

Spending. Couples' insights on planning ahead also included spending decisions. When couples indicated what they were specifically saving for purchasing or furnishing their homes:

We knew that we first thing we had to do was buy a house. We know that it's not just a house, it's a home. We find that . . . in renting a house, you would rent that house, for 20, 25 years and you never pay for it. It's money that you have lost because it's going to someone else. But if you're buying a house and you pay on it for 25 years then it's your house, the money is yours when you get through, the house is yours. We didn't ever want to rent; we wanted to prepare by buying a home for ourselves. (Husband 1)

Just before we got married, I began saving my money. Each time I would get paid, I would always think about what we had to do and what would be involved. I began sort of buying up little things for my home. . . . So, we prepared for some things that we could afford. Little things, you know, nothing big, because the salaries were small. (Wife 1)

One older couple talked about their decisions to save and when they realized that they could start spending their savings in their old age:

We have always been saving, saving, saving. So we are 80 something years old, why keep on saving, what you saving for? So we decided to spend a little more, give away a little more, just enjoy a little more. Now that was a change. Uh, even 5 or 10 years ago, we saved much more than we saving now. Much more. 'Cause we didn't know when fish going to bite. . . . But we found the future is now. Save for the future, the future is now. (Husband 4)

One husband provided insight into planning for the future, explaining that couples who make preparations together can see great things happen with their finances:

[If] they cannot afford to have a million [dollar] house now, it doesn't mean that they won't be able to afford it. They just have to work on it. Don't just jump one day and get it and you're overwhelmed with debt, and tomorrow you homeless.

Work on it. Let's have a plan. We will get there. So if the two agree that they could have a plan and work on it and get it, that's good. (Husband 16)

This was reiterated by one wife who stated, "We could work together to build something financially" (Wife 12).

Unanticipated Finding

In addition to answering the above research questions nearly half (32 of 74) of the participants talked about another issue that provides further insight into the role of money issues in strong African American marriages. It was not a pervasive theme in that less than half of the participants talked about it; however, it was an unanticipated finding that is worth including in this chapter. These couples talked about how they rose above money concerns, which was summarized in the term, "transcending." These couples talked about having money as not being particularly meaningful in terms of their well-being and gave descriptions of how they transcended money issues in their marriages. They talked about transcending money issues in several ways, including how they were able to be content or make do with what they had, avoid materialism, and help family and others through giving financially.

Being Satisfied with Making Do

Throughout their interviews, participants talked about being satisfied with what they had and understood that money would be limited at times for them. One wife explained that she and her husband were not expecting to "get filthy rich and be a millionaire" (Wife 15). She said they wanted to "live a comfortable life, have a basic

[needs] met without struggle—not living paycheck to paycheck." One husband described the following, speaking with a perspective from the Black community:

In the Black, we have learned and we've basically been bred to be without, it seems. Money or not—great. If it's got money, great! But we know how to function without that. I feel in general, this is a general rule because you got your exceptions to the rule that in the Blacks I feel that they have learned to adapt. We didn't have this; Mama didn't have this; Grandmamma didn't have this, so okay. But be straight with me. Be honest with me. Don't cheat on me, and these are the things that I feel makes, uh, helps to build a strong and long lasting marriages in the Black community. Now, if we got the finances, it's even better. (Husband 54)

Many couples talked about how they were able to get along with the necessities as long as they had enough to feed the family. One wife explained:

We make do. As long as you have the staples—flour, sugar—you got some bread. I got a bread maker. I can make anything I need unless I had a cow and some chickens in the back. So we learn [to not] worry about money. (Wife 10)

One husband contributed, "We were never hungry, but we didn't have any money. We had food. . . . We never went hungry. We had cows, chicken, hogs, and a garden. We always had plenty of food. . . . Money, we ain't have no money" (Husband 4). Several couples made the point that they felt happy when they did not have money, but indicated that having enough for basic needs and some wants was also important:

Doesn't mean that you have to be wealthy or rich or anything to be happy, but you can't ignore the need for survival, for supplying your basic needs—not just the wants. I believe you need to satisfy some of those wants, but there are some basic needs that you must have. And if you satisfy those then you can deal with some of the wants. I do believe strongly that to be happy some of these wants must be satisfied as well. If not, why make a difference and struggle? Welfare provides the basic needs, you see. So if you can get beyond that, you need to satisfy some of those wants as well. (Husband 13)

Other couples talked similarly about how money may be nice to have, but they, too, indicated that "money don't make ya' happy" (Husband 7).

Couples also talked about finding satisfaction in purchasing used items instead of new, as well as being content with purchases that were less than luxury. One car example is given:

I can afford a car, [but] as long as it gives me good utility, I continue to [drive it]. My car is 15 years old. Fifteen years old and doesn't bother. I already know the question, "When are you going to change your car?" I say, "It's in good running condition. So don't worry about that." As long as my wife has something very reliable to her, I say, mine is fine." (Husband 15)

Many couples talked about how they were not willing to spend the money on purchases for which they could find lower priced equivalents:

You can go to places like Wal-Mart or Family Dollar or somewhere where you could spend a less amount of money for something that's gonna actually last you longer than something that you would spend \$200-300 on. (Husband 14)

Something coming from Wal-Mart would be just as good as the name brand clothes. . . . That money should be going for food, and then maybe put in the bank for their future, for the parents retirement and other things that are more, need to be higher on the list in terms of values. . . . Look, you don't have to have all the name brand stuff, and this is where your money is going. This is what we're earning. This is what we're putting away in the bank and why. And if it means, you know, you don't get \$150 tennis shoes, you have to settle for ones on sale for \$70, so be it. (Wife 15)

In summary, one wife responded to being asked what it takes to have a strong marriage with the following insight that describes looking inward with financial expectations:

Couples need to be content. Learn to be content. That's hard in this society. Learn to be content because you don't know what may happen tomorrow. But everybody wants to rush in, be like the Joneses. I don't try to live like the Joneses—we don't. We have lived in this same raggedy house for the last 21 years. Because we have a plan. So if the two could walk together towards a common goal, it would be much easier than running in different directions. I want this now, I want this now. Being content. . . . So we shouldn't try to be where that person is now because our pace is different. We have a common saying back home: Cut your coat according to your size. Yes, so if your budget is this much, and his budget is that much, you can't compete with him! And if your

budget were higher, he can't compete with you. So walk at your own pace. (Wife 16)

Avoiding Materialism

Couples also commonly talked about avoiding materialism. One husband explained how materialism could negatively impact his marriage, saying, "The thing that makes this relationship work is that it ain't materialistic" (Husband 14). One wife talked about her husband, saying, "My husband ain't never want no luxuries. . . . he would say, "We could've lived in a tent in the woods and I would have been just as happy" (Wife 6).

Several of the couples even criticized materialistic views, explaining how focusing on materialistic things is not good for relationships and that spending time together, as one husband gave as an example, is more important. He said:

I know many couples provided their kids with much more material things than I could have ever done for my sons. . . . But they weren't getting no quality time. It's not that they care less, but a lot of times people just don't realize the importance of quality time. They put too much emphasis on material things. (Husband 62)

One wife thought similarly of materialistic thinking, and talked about how love is more important. She said, "Some individuals get married not for love. It's for material things or financial stability or different things like that. I think marriage should be based on love for one another—love between each other" (Wife 63).

One husband described how African Americans do not have materialistic values in answer to a question about what makes a Black marriage strong compared to a White marriage:

White families seem to me attach success to material gain. That's my observation in society. The Black family seems to attach more success not to material gain, but to how well they can remain bonded to each other and how well they can move vertically. I think it's not so much how big the house is or how big

the car is, that's my observation, but how well they can move up in society and maybe spread some influence. . . . In the White family I think more emphasis is placed on the bank account, the assets and stuff like that, and success is attached that way. That's just my observation. It seem like in the Black family that getting together at a picnic and all these type of events mean so much to the family. Even at a church event—that social gathering means a lot. And that probably goes back to 200-300 years ago when our fore parents and a child celebrate every little opportunity they get. But for the Whites, the white culture seems like that type of thing's a little more superficial. And success is attached to other things other than that. . . . It seems like if we want stability in our marriage we could use that camaraderie and the getting together to instill in those folks to love your wife. Wife, love your husband. Be tight. You look like it could still use that to influence a very strong marriage. (Husband 15)

Helping Others

Couples talked frequently about their willingness to help others financially. Some couples talked about being "givers" and taking requests or looking for opportunities to give financially (Husband 4). One wife talked about how her parents felt that way when others were struggling to get by:

Looking for support in those days—you couldn't look too far for support because everybody else is struggling and you don't really want to burden them with the mess. But I learned from both of my parents, regardless of what they had even though they didn't have much, they shared. Both of them were givers. And we had people at our home all of the time, even though we had little, I never saw one of them turn someone away, because they came by to share with what we had. Share whatever it was we had. (Wife 15)

The other part of it is giving, and I give a lot. And I give, give, give, and I have you know, during Katrina we had, before the storm my main office was in New Orleans, and so we had a lot of my coworkers displaced, and they were here. So they would come by and we'd go in the closet—and even before the storm I would just go pull out, you know, somebody needed something. If I saw something I would say, "Oh, somebody at church, Mrs. So-and-so's girls could wear this." And I'll pick it up and give it to them. And so [my husband is] the same way. (Wife 56)

Some couples talked about how they preferred to not loan money when someone was in need. One husband said, "We don't loan money. We give. 'Cause if you loan

money, you most time, gonna have trouble getting it back or you don't get it back. That's when the confusion come in. So we give, and most of the time, without people asking" (Husband 4).

Other couples talked about charitable giving and how they felt about God's hand in their own lives when they were trying to help others:

We give a need for someone, without asking. You can't beat God giving, no matter how you try. (Wife 4)

Yeah, we paying tithes. But you don't miss it, and ya' just keep adding to it, keep getting and the more you give the more you get in return. (Wife 7)

We really do believe, you can't beat God giving. Really do believe. So much stuff has come back to us. You just can't beat God giving. I really believe that, and you hear the song, the more you give, the more He give you? (Husband 4)

Many couples talked about how they learned to help others from their parents.

One wife said, "My parents helped so many people and so many students" (Wife 57).

Another wife explained the philosophy she had learned from her foster parents:

It's not about the material things that they talked about, not focusing on just accumulating things that are really of no value later. But leaving a legacy of how many people they have managed to help, and that's what I'd like to see with my own existence. And I tell my sons, my two sons, the same thing. Try to find a way to give something back. Whatever you can and never allow material things to define who you are. (Wife 15)

Couples talked about helping family in addition to helping others who were not related to them. One husband explained that he felt he should support family and even be willing to give all of his resources to help family. He talked about having an understanding between family members, "letting them know, financially, spiritually, and through sacrifice that all of us are going to meet each other's needs. So we're going to have this awesome support nucleus" (Husband 2).

Other couples also talked specifically about helping family. One wife's perspective was, "Take some of mine, take some of ours. Whatever [is needed], we'll supply" (Wife 4). Another wife even indicated that it was important for couples, early on, to discuss *how much* to help family. She described how couples should be "ironing out just how much they will do for relatives. There might be a need [where someone would be] depending on them for some reason or another" (Wife 15). One husband talked about giving to his extended family members:

They give me love, but they always look to me for material wealth. Somehow they figured [that] I'm in a position so they'll always be calling me for assistance. And what I can rely on them for love, to say something good to have me uplifted. You see what I'm saying? And I would say it's mutually beneficial, you know. Most of them don't have much to offer in terms of material things, but at least words, support, love, friendliness, etc, etc. And these things are very important. So everybody brings something to the table, yeah. . . . Sometimes it becomes a drain on whatever liquid assets you have, but at least it's good to know that you're there for someone and you may not be able to help at that time, but whatever. The other aspect is the type of love you have and the relationship you have with that individual because of these family members. Because at your time of despair you need somebody you can talk to and whatever and that caring comes across, and you cannot put a price on that. Yeah, you cannot put a price on that. (Husband 15)

Other couples talked about how they observed other Black couples and their approaches to helping each other. They talked about working together, sharing, and helping each other to succeed:

These people have taught me just by watching them, that they always had each other's back. They didn't waiver from each other. And they were also helping—they were always reaching out to somebody else. Whatever they were committed to, they were there until it was complete. And that's what I always liked about them. And then they would always look and see you, and when they see you they were always willing to share. They weren't selfish, and I guess that's the best way of putting it. Sometimes when we are successful we become selfish. (Husband 2)

Summary

The data from these interviews helped to answer the research questions that were developed for this research project. First, the question of how couples talk about financial challenges in their marriages addressed several important findings. When couples talked about marital challenges, they brought up financial challenges consistently.

There were many couples who specified the kinds of financial challenges that could create difficulty in marriage, including not having enough money. When couples talked about not having enough money, they talked about difficulty in meeting family needs or paying bills as well as responding to unexpected expenses. They also talked about making each other happy even when money was limited. Participants also indicated that when couples are not on the same page, financial challenges can result. They indicated that couples who are not aligned may experience difficulty, as well as when there is selfishness or entitlement in their marriages. They also talked about how they were able to get on the same page. A final finding was that employment often created difficulty for couples. These couples specified job loss, adjustments to work, and job conflicting with family as financial challenges. In addition, they discussed how they were able to cope with job-related challenges.

The second research question was how couples talk about making financial decisions in their marriages. When couples talked about financial decisions, they talked about their financial behaviors, including how they spent money. They also talked about joining resources and budgeting. Employment came up as a finding for how decisions were made, including homeownership. The next major finding was in how couples

described their approaches to money management. They primarily talked about discussing financial decisions and making decisions jointly. Money attitudes were also described by these couples. The last major finding was how couples talked about planning ahead financially. They talked again about work as well as saving and preparing for spending.

An unanticipated finding was that many couples talked about transcending money issues in their marriage. They talked about how they were satisfied with making do financially, avoiding materialism and, finally, how they helped others financially.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Overview

This study was designed to understand how African American couples in strong marriages talk about financial issues. In answer to the first research question about financial challenges, the results of the study indicate that couples talk about financial challenges in three ways: pinching pennies to get by, not being on the same page, and job stress. In answer to the second research question about financial decisions, the results of this study indicate that these couples talked about how couples make financial decisions in three ways: how they decided to use their financial resources, money management methods, and planning ahead. In addition, an unexpected finding of how couples talked about transcending money issues included being satisfied with making do, avoiding materialism, and helping others financially.

These findings supported and expanded the existing body of research. For African American couples, existing knowledge in the literature was clarified and built upon to provide a better understanding of their experiences. This chapter includes a discussion of the important findings followed by an explanation of how the theoretical framework was used. The limitations of the study and implications for other research and financial education are also included.

Important Findings

Many of the findings in this study were consistent with other studies on money issues and finances in marriage. In addition, some of the gaps in the available literature

about finances in African American marriages were addressed in this study.

Findings Consistent with Existing Research

Many of the things that were true for this sample of African American couples in strong marriages were related to the research on the general population. The following findings will be addressed in this section: economic strain, education and income levels, materialism, and spending,

Economic strain in marriage. Several studies found that financial difficulty was negatively related to marital satisfaction (Conger et al., 1999; Dew, 2008; Kinnunen & Feldt, 2004). Although this study did not measure marital satisfaction, the majority of these participants with great marriages (64 of 74 participants) indicated that financial struggles created stress for their marriages.

The Family Stress Model by Conger and colleagues (2002) was referred to in the literature and describes how couples felt stress when their resources were limited, and they were not able to keep up with bills (Cutrona et al., 2003; Dew, 2007; Gudmunson et al., 2007). A major finding in this study is that these couples also identified the difficulties they experienced with not having enough money to pay bills, meet family needs, or pay for unexpected expenses. As Conger and colleagues' research (1999) has shown, the couples in this study who had strong marriages also had financial challenges and talked about how it impacted their relationships (Conger et al., 1999).

Overcoming economic strain. Some of these couples also gave clues about how they made each other happy given these challenges. These insights are consistent with the conclusions of other studies about strong marriages that show that couples can overcome difficulty, including financial challenges. Unlike the literature, the financial

challenges that the couples in this study experienced ultimately was not linked to marital dissatisfaction, because these couples reported that they were in strong, happy marriages at the time of the study. If the marital problems that were addressed by the current body of research (Britt et al., 2008; Conger et al., 2002; Gudmunson et al., 2007) had been experienced in this sample's marriages, they had overcome the general discord and conflict and were currently happy in their marriages. This is not unlike studies that revealed that great marriages are not without financial adversity and that couples can overcome difficulties (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008; Robinson & Blanton, 1993; Skogrand et al., 2010).

Education and income. Consistent with the general literature on finances in marriage, these couples who experienced marital happiness had both higher education levels (Cutrona et al., 2003; Joo & Grable, 2004) and higher income levels (Amato & Previti, 2003; Winter et al., 1984). The average income level for the couples in this study was between \$70,000 to \$79,999 and the average education for the participants was at a Community College level at the time they were interviewed. This supports past research showing that happiness in marriage would also be high for these couples. It is also possible that the educational attainment of men in particular contributes to their decision to get married to begin with, which is consistent with other research (Oppenheimer, 2003).

Spending. Another finding of this study that is consistent with the literature on marriage and finance is that of the damaging effects of foolish spending and materialism in marriage (Amato & Rogers, 1999; Dean et al., 2007). These couples similarly expressed that selfish spending in marriage was damaging, and also how materialistic

approaches to spending could create difficulty in marriage. These couples also expressed how difficulty in marriage could arise if their spouse was spending money without telling them, consistent with research by Britt and colleagues (2008). These couples also indicated that making joint decisions on spending, particularly with major purchases, was an effective approach for them. This is consistent with other research that showed that talking about major purchases was reported among other couples in strong marriages (Joo & Grable, 2004; Skogrand et al., 2010).

Communication. Oggins (2003) found that a major conflict in conversation was tension in talking about finances. But when couples were able to get on the same page about managing their money, conflicts decreased. This study provided confirming evidence that, in addition to general studies that include money management and marriages, communication and discussion about financial management is beneficial in marriage relationships. The couples in this study emphasized working to get on the same page with financial expectations.

These couples consistently talked about good communication as well as changing their thinking about how they would spend their money individually to how they would as a couple. The participants in the sample for this study talked about how they sought to get on the same page about their finances, as other studies have shown (Muske & Winter, 2001) and the importance of coming to an agreement about how they would handle their money (Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008). In addition, a major finding was that couples made major financial decisions together and where one person was primarily in charge, they came to an agreement.

New Findings Unique to African Americans

While there has been a significant amount of research on finances in marriage for the dominant culture, there were some gaps in the literature for the African American population. There may be some indication of financial matters in Black marriages throughout the literature, but this section will address those topics that are either new to the literature or will expand the current body of literature. Several findings will be addressed, including kinship bonds and transcending money, joint resources, employment, communication, and budgeting.

Kinship bonds and transcending money. The kinship bonds described by Hill (1999) as strengths of Black families are also characteristic of Black marriages, as was illustrated in the findings of this study. Other studies have found that African Americans use a collectivist approach where they feel a mutual responsibility for each other like a brotherhood or sisterhood (Logan, 1996). In other studies, couples indicated the importance of family bonds (Marks et al., 2008). Consistent with other research, these couples also described how it was important that family work together, share with one another, and help each other succeed.

The kinship bonds described in the current literature for African Americans have sometimes been extended to include financially helping family and others in the African American community. This study showed a definite extending of financial assistance by participants. There were similarities in Marks and colleagues' (2008) study where he describes "knocks of need," often including financial assistance. The findings from this study are an important expansion on this theme, because such kinship was extended to mean financial consideration for family and others in the Black community, sometimes

through religious organizations (Marks et al., 2008), often in an attitude of transcending money issues.

Additional research beyond the literature review provides details about transcendence and how people, particularly those who have experienced the pressures of assimilating into a dominant culture, may adopt a value system that guides their actions (Walsh, 2008). This author talked about how this moral compass can assist individuals in overcoming limitations and viewing difficult experiences from a broader perspective. In addition, Walsh describes how human resilience is often joined by "compassion for those unable to overcome their life challenges" (p. 70). The collectivist attitude that is common in the Black community is evident in the findings in this study, and is consistent with the literature.

In addition to helping others financially, the couples in strong marriages in this study indicated they had an even broader sense of transcending financial issues, where they were actually satisfied with making do and avoided materialism. It may be interesting to see if couples in other cultural groups who have strong marriages also display this kind of financial transcendence.

Joint resources. The available literature summarized for this study did not include details on how couples managed their accounts. As an addition to the literature review, Skogrand and colleagues (2010) conducted a study on financial management practices in great marriages with participants from the dominant culture. They found that whether couples joined bank accounts or kept their accounts separate did not matter. What did matter was that couples agreed how to handle their accounts. This African American sample with strong marriages also indicated that agreement about managing

the accounts was important; however, these couples did feel it was important to combine resources in joint accounts. They "pooled their resources" and advocated that joining their accounts was the best way for husbands and wives to manage their bank accounts. It would be interesting to know if this is true for other ethnic groups.

Employment. Work was important to these couples in several ways. Issues, concerns, and decisions about employment were among the major findings in this study. In the literature about the dominant culture, reduced income or job loss was identified as a strain on marriage (Ahituv & Lerman, 2007; Maxwell, 1994). Consistent with the literature, the findings of this study indicated that the concerns of job instability are real. Another major finding for these couples was that job loss and work adjustments were difficult in their marriages. This is a new and expanding finding for Black couples, as the literature on job concerns in marriage is limited.

Also consistent with the literature, these couples indicated that employment was stressful when it conflicted with family time. One study specifically showed that couples felt that although job loss was stressful, it allowed them to spend more time with their families (Zvonkovic et al., 1988). In addition, this study provides additional insights into Black couples feeling the stress of balancing work and family life and, at times, would sacrifice income for family time. These couples identified ways that they would handle the stresses associated with employment. They talked about being resilient and several talked about saving as a way to handle job loss.

Budgeting. A major finding of this study was that these couples indicated that living within means by budgeting was important to them. Consistent with findings from Skogrand et al. (2010), African American couples, too, tried to live within their means

and described how budgeting was important in their marriages. They talked about how they limited themselves to the money available at a given time. This kind of positive behavior in money management is not prevalent in existing literature, and this major finding increases the understanding of how these Black couples managed their money.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework used as a context for this study was the family strengths perspective, which was developed by Stinnett and colleagues (1981). Although research that focuses on deficits and problems experiences by married couples provides excellent insights and explanations that help to explain social issues, research framed from a strengths perspective can also provide useful information about what successes exist for married couples. The need for this kind of approach in studying Black relationships is increasingly important as the literature is limited, and marriage rates are low and cohabitation and divorce rates are high, with consideration to the negative effects of the latter examples. It is important to learn about couples who are able to overcome difficulties and remain married where divorce is so common, and those successes are celebrated through this study which focuses on the strengths of these African American couples in strong marriages.

The theoretical framework used for this study is consistent with the call for use of a strengths model in studying the experiences of couples in African American marriages (Hopkins-Williams, 2007; Marks et al., 2006; Mosley-Howard & Evans, 2000). The strengths perspective is based upon the assumption that all families have strengths. This

study showed that these couples with strong marriages had strengths, and they draw upon these strengths to overcome difficulties and maintain happy and healthy marriages.

Another assumption of the family strengths perspective is that the relationship between money and family strengths is still tenuous (DeFrain & Asay, 2007). What little information gained in this study about income level and employment in relationship to marital happiness support the studies that show that higher income is likely to be related to couples being more secure in their marriage relationships (Ahituv & Lerman, 2007; Amato & Previti, 2003), considering that the average income was fairly high for these couples (\$70,000-79,999). It may be interesting to pursue further information on the relationship between income, employment, and the strength of marriage relationships, as this assumption may still be in development and in need of further research.

Also consistent with the assumptions of the strengths framework is the focus to expand the research to provide examples of how marriages stay intact even amid difficulties. This is consistent with what we learned about these couples, who were in strong marriages at the time of the study but consistently reported that financial challenges created marital difficulty. Additionally, DeFrain and Asay (2007) explained that "strong" does not mean "perfect." These couples fit this description and, yet, they still provide examples of what worked for them and what may work for other couples, though the findings from this study are not generalizable.

The family strengths perspective provided additional insights about the interaction between cultural, community, and family strengths (Dalla, DeFrain, Johnsons, & Abbott, 2009). These authors explain how the strengths of families contribute to the well-being of communities and how communities also enhance strong families. Even beyond the

strengths of communities, these authors address how, yet, a third dimension of cultural strengths helps to strengthen communities and families, and this relationship is reciprocal as well. True to the experiences of African American couples, cultural strengths include a rich cultural history and rely on other African Americans who share similar cultural meanings.

Dalla and colleagues (2009) described international family strengths, identifying several clustered characteristics that often overlap for families that are strong, happy, loving, and highly satisfied: (a) positive communication; (b) commitment to the family; (c) enjoy spending time together; and (d) the ability to manage stress and crises effectively. All of the above characteristics of international family strengths were evident in this study of strong couples: (a) positive communication was evidenced in how couples made financial decisions together; (b) couples were committed to kin as well as other Blacks financially and in general willingness to help when their help was needed; (c) couples briefly indicated that spending time together was important to them when they talked about the conflicts that sometimes occurred with their jobs; and (d) managing stress and financial difficulty went hand in hand with financial challenges. In addition to talking about financial challenges, many couples talked about how they coped with such challenges.

As a final thought about the family strengths perspective as a context for this study, DeFrain and Asay explained, "It does not ignore family problems but restores them to their proper place in life: as vehicles for testing our capacities as families and reaffirming our vital human connections with each other" (2007, p. 3). One may suggest that this purpose was fulfilled with the findings of this study.

Limitations

A limitation of this study is that the data was drawn from interviews that were not designed to elicit financial data. This may be a strength of the study, in that the financial responses were volunteered by participants without them being prompted by interview questions. One may assume that if participants volunteered financial insights without being directly asked for them, the resulting data must be important, and certainly important to the individuals who provided them. It does follow that a qualitative marital study about African American couples should include financial questions to learn more about financial issues.

Another limitation of this study could be in the demographic representation of the sample. In terms of marital stability, an important group to study in the African American population would be low-income Blacks, as the social struggles of those who are low income are undeniable, and the issues for African Americans in low income situations are difficult. This sample includes couples with an average education beyond high school and a relatively high average income, which is higher than the national household average and much higher than the household average for Blacks. However, this sample still provided important information. It may be possible that Black couples who find happiness in marriage are more likely to make financial decisions, such as additional education, that increase their earnings.

Implications for Future Research

There were several outcomes of this study that were important, but not covered thoroughly due to the limitations of the study or because not enough data was available.

The implications for future research are based on if the results of this study can be confirmed by other research. Without that confirmation, we cannot generalize from these findings, but speculation about possible implications from this study has been provided.

Although financial challenges were addressed as a major finding in this study, an important follow-up was barely touched upon. These couples provided additional insight about financial challenges when they consistently talked about how they coped with financial challenges. The data from this study provides insight that would be useful for further research that follows up on how these couples talked about their resiliency to the kinds of challenges that still left them feeling happy in their marriages. They talked about how they bounced back from financial difficulty, responding to job-related stress, and doing things to make their spouses happy despite income being tight. Further research could specifically address coping with financial difficulty, particularly among African Americans.

One of the themes that was evident in the data but not addressed in the research questions was that of roles. African Americans may have unique approaches to work and other roles that should be investigated thoroughly. Information about this topic came up in the data for this study, but it was outside the goals of this study and was thus not included.

In response to the limitation about not including any financial questions in the interview schedule, a study including financial questions would help to expand the literature and understand in more depth money management practices among Black couples who have strong marriages. Although these couples talked briefly about some aspects of financial management, few listed specific items. There were several important

money management practices that are identified in the literature for the dominant culture that are scarce in available research on African Americans. For example, a major theme in the literature about financial management was debt and its relationship with marriage outcomes (Dew, 2007; Olson & Olson-Sigg, 2008; Skogrand et al., 2005), but these couples did not volunteer information about debt in their marriages. It may be suggested that questions about debt, credit, saving, and financial planning be included as specific questions. More information about daily money management would also be important to examine in future studies of African Americans, as money management practices like spending were only briefly covered in this study.

Another issue that went beyond this research project was about the gaps in income experienced by Blacks in comparison to other ethnic groups. Many of the participants described the difficulties they had experienced individually or with their spouse when they felt the earnings gap. This earnings gap is often described in the literature (Gittleman & Wolff, 2004). Furthermore, several participants provided details about the kinds of discrimination felt in work environments, including promotions, hiring, and other work-related stress. Again, these were issues outside the bounds of this study, but further research about ethnic earning gaps should be explored.

The unanticipated finding about how couples transcended or rose above finances, including how they helped others financially, was consistent with collectivist descriptions about the Black community (Hill, 1999; Logan, 1996; Marks et al., 2008). It may be suggested that research that explores the details of how and to what extent African American couples provide financial assistance to others is warranted. In addition, there is very little research about materialism or how African American couples rise above

limited income and other difficulties. This study was limited to the discovery that transcending money is a theme for couples in the Black community, and it follows that further research is needed to fully understand this attitude about financial issues. In addition, further research on transcending money in other ethnic groups would also be an important contribution to the literature.

Regarding the theoretical framework used for this study, one of the assumptions was that the relationship between family strengths and finances was a tenuous, or an uncertain relationship. The findings of this study support the idea that the relationship between money issues and marriage relationships is not tenuous, but certain. While these findings may be specific to this study, other research since the perspective's original development in 1981 also confirm this idea that finances play an important role in relationships and that a connection exists. It may be suggested that the theoretical framework for family strengths be revisited and reworked to better explain what research has shown about the relationship between money and family strengths.

It may also be suggested that the Black family strengths identified by Hill (1972, 1999) be studied in more depth, including more research on the strengths of African American couples. Hill identified a number of strengths of Black families that this study could not confirm, as it did not go into the depth necessary to support Hill's research. It would be interesting to learn more about the strengths of Black families and if other research can support past findings. Particularly, it would be interesting to learn more about money-related strengths including adaptability of family roles and strong work orientation, as the existing research for African Americans, including this study, indicates that work issues are on the minds of this ethnic group.

A final recommendation for future research regards the measure of marital satisfaction. The sample for this study was selected because they self-identified as being in a strong and happy marriage. It would be useful for studies using the current methodology to include a measure of marital satisfaction so it could be used to compare against the findings in other studies that measure marital satisfaction.

Implications for Financial Education

One of the most important implications of this study for financial education for African American couples is that where improvements can be made, one should focus on what others who are successful are already doing right (Toldson, 2008). As this study shows, Black couples may practice financial behaviors that could be emulated by others who struggle.

Another finding about the importance of kin and collectivism in the Black culture would suggest that financial educators should be mindful of the priorities of couples helping others rather than propelling themselves forward. The collectivist attitude of African American couples like these is an important characteristic of the Black culture. The brotherhood or sisterhood feelings associated with this collectivist approach may mean that African Americans would respond best to financial instruction from other African Americans, with whom they have kinship and relate to more easily than with instructors of other ethnic groups. In addition, group settings for financial education may be recommended for the same reasons (Toldson, 2008).

One way in which the strengths of African American households could be respected is for financial educators to honor the values of the Black community. Where

traditional financial practices include organized saving for retirement and suggestions for reducing expenses, these kinds of habits may be examples of some that would intrude on Black family values, where priority given to helping family may be affected. Some standardized financial practices may still be recommended to these families, but it may be suggested that financial education for this ethnic group could be customized to honor unique characteristics of their culture, including kinship priorities at the expense of saving.

Concluding Remarks

The results of this study include some very interesting insights into human behaviors and attitudes of African American couples. The opportunity to learn about marriage from those who are succeeding by staying together happily and keeping their marriages intact has been very rewarding from a research perspective. As other researchers have stated of strong Black marriages, "Yes, they're out there" (Hopkins-Williams, 2007, p. 102). Where financial struggles are consistently shown in the literature to create conflict in marriage, it is interesting to learn that couples overcome financial difficulties and continue to feel the benefits of marriage relationships amid challenges. These couples provide an example of resiliency that is a great contribution to the literature on family strengths. It is hoped that this study provides some new and important insights to the current knowledge in the research community and, that from it, future studies may expand the current knowledge based on the information gained by this qualitative exploration.

REFERENCES

- Ahituv, A., & Lerman, R. I. (2007). How do marital status, work effort, and wage rates interact? *Demography*, 44, 3, 623-647. doi: 10.1353/dem.2007.0021
- Amato, P. R., & Previti, D. (2003). People's reasons for divorcing: Gender, social class, the life course, and adjustment. *Journal of Family Issues*, 24, 602-626. doi: 10.1177/0192513X03254507
- Amato, P. R., & Rogers, S. J. (1999). Do attitudes toward divorce affect marital quality?

 Journal of Family Issues, 20(1), 69-86. doi: 10.1177/019251399020001004
- Ambert, A. M., Adler, P. A., Adler, P., & Detzner, D. F. (1995). Understanding and evaluating qualitative research. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *57*, 879-893. doi:10.2307/353409
- Andersen, J. D. (2005). Financial problems and divorce: Do demographic characteristics strengthen the relationship? *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage*, 43, 149-162. doi:10.1300/J087v43n01_08
- Aniol, J. C., & Snyder, D. K. (1997). Differential assessment of financial and relationship distress: Implications for couples therapy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 23(3), 347-352. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-0606.1997.tb01042.x
- Attewell, P., Domina, T., Lavin, D., & Levey, T. (2004). The Black middle class:

 Progress, prospects, and puzzles. *Journal of African American Studies*, 8(1-2), 6-19. doi:10.1007/s12111-004-1001-5
- Austin, A. (2009, July 8). African Americans see weekly wage decline. Retrieved from http://www.epi.org/economic_snapshots/entry/snapshot_20090708/

- Bachand, L. L., & Caron, S. L. (2001). Ties that bind: A qualitative study of happy long-term marriages. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 23(1), 105-121. doi: 10.1023/A:1007828317271
- Berry, R. E., & Williams, F. L. (1987). Assessing the relationship between quality of life and marital and income satisfaction: A path analytic approach. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 49, 107-116. doi:10.2307/352675
- Billingsley, A. (1992). Climbing Jacob's ladder: The enduring legacies of African-American families. New York, NY: Touchstone.
- Blackman, L., Clayton, O., Glenn, N., Malone-Colon, L., & Roberts, A. (2005). *The consequences of marriage for African Americans: A comprehensive literature review*. New York, NY: Institute for American Values.
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (2003). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Bowman, S. W. (2010). Multigenerational interactions in Black middle class wealth and asset decision making. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1007/s10834-010-9204-5
- Britt, S., Grable, J. E., Goff, B. S. N., & White, M. (2008). The influence of perceived spending behaviors on relationship satisfaction. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 19, 1, 31-43. Retrieved from https://www1067.ssldomain.com/afcpe/doc/6%202877%20Volume%2019%20Issue%201.pdf
- Broman, C. L. (1993). Race differences in marital well-being. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55, 724-732. doi:10.2307/353352

- Broman, C. L. (2005). Marital quality in black and white marriages. *Journal of Family Issues*, 26, 431-441. doi: 10.1177/0192513X04272439
- Bryant, C. M., Taylor, R. J., Lincoln, K. D., Chatters, L. M., & Jackson, J. S. (2008).

 Marital satisfaction among African Americans and Black Caribbeans: Findings from the National Survey of American Life. *Family Relations*, *57*, 239-253. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2008.00497.x
- Chadiha, L. A., Veroff, J., & Leber, D. (1998). Newlywed's narrative themes: Meaning in the first year of marriage for African American and White couples. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 29, 115-130. doi:10.2307/353981
- Chapman, A. B. (2007). In search of love and commitment: Dealing with the challenging odds of finding romance. In H. P. McAdoo (Ed.), *Black families* (pp. 285-296).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cherlin, A. J. (1992). *Marriage, divorce, remarriage*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Cherlin, A. J. (1998). Marriage and marriage dissolution among Black Americans. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 29, 147-158.
- Cherlin, A. J. (2004). The deinstitutionalization of American marriage. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 66, 848-861. doi:10.1111/j.0022-2445.2004.00058.x
- Clark-Nicolas, P., & Gray-Little, B. (1991). Effect of economic resources on marital quality in black married couples. *National Council on Family Relations*, *53*(3) 645-655. doi:10.2307/352740
- Conger, R. D., Elder, G. H., Jr., Lorenz, F. O., Conger, K., Simons, R. L., Whitbeck, L. B., Huck, S., & Melby, J. N. (1990). Linking economic hardship to marital quality

- and instability. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 52,* 643-656. doi:10.2307/352931
- Conger, R. D., Rueter, M. A., & Elder, G. H. (1999). Couple resilience to economic pressure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(1), 54-71. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.76.1.54
- Conger, R. D., Wallace, L. E., Sun, Y., Simons, R. L., McLoyd, V. C., & Brody, G. H. (2002). Economic pressure in African American families: A replication and extension of the family stress model. *Developmental Psychology*, 38(2), 179-193. doi: 10.1037//0012-1649.38.2.179
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches. Lincoln, NE: Sage.
- Cutrona, C. E., Russell, D. W., Abraham, W. T., Gardner, K. A., Melby, J. N., Bryant, C., & Conger, R. D. (2003). Neighborhood context and financial strain as predictors of marital interaction and marital quality in African American couples. *Personal Relationship*, 10, 389-409.
- Dalla, R. L., DeFrain, J., Johnson, J., & Abbott, D. A. (2009). Epilogue. *Strengths and challenges of new immigrant families: Implications for research education, policy, and service* (pp. 411-425). Lanham, MA: Lexington Books.
- Daly, A., Jennings, J., Beckett, J. O., & Leashore, B. R. (1995). Effective coping strategies of African Americans. *Social Work*, 40(2), 240-248.
- Dean, L. R., Carroll, J. S., & Yang, C. (2007). Materialism, perceived financial problems, and marital satisfaction. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, *35*, 260-281. doi:10.1177/1077727X06296625

- DeFrain, J., & Asay, S. M. (2007). Strong families around the world: An introduction to the family strengths perspective. *Marriage and Family Review*, 41(1-2), 1-10. doi:10.1300/J002v41n01_01
- Dew, J. (2007). Two sides of the same coin? The differing roles of assets and consumer debt in marriage. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 28, 89-104. doi:10.1007/s10834-006-9051-6
- Dew, J. (2008). Marriage and finance. In J. J. Xiao (Ed.), *Handbook of consumer finance research* (pp. 337-350). New York, NY: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-75734-6_20
- Dew, J. (2009). The gendered meaning of assets for divorce. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 30, 20-31. doi:10.1007/s10834-008-9138-3
- Edin, K. (2000). What do low-income single mothers say about marriage? *Social Problems*, 47(1), 112-133.
- Edin, K., & Reed, J. M. (2005). Why don't they just get married? Barriers to marriage among the disadvantaged. *The Future of Children, 15*(2), 117-137. doi:10.1353/foc.2005.0017
- Fan, J. X. (2008). Linking consumer debt and consumer expenditures: Do borrowers spend money differently? *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 28, 358-401. doi:10.1177/1077727X00283004
- Gittleman, M., & Wolff, E. N. (2004). Racial differences in patterns of wealth accumulation. *The Journal of Human Resources*, *39*(1), 193-227. doi:10.2307/3559010

- Goldstein, A. E., & Reiboldt, W. (2004). The multiple roles of low income, minority women in the family and community: A qualitative investigation. *The Qualitative Report*, 9(2), 241-265. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR9-2/goldstein.pdf
- Grable, J. E., Britt, S., & Cantrell, J. (2007). An exploratory study of the role financial satisfaction has on the thought of subsequent divorce. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, *36*(2), 130-150. doi: 10.1177/1077727X07309284
- Gray-Little, B. (1982). Marital quality and power processes among Black couples. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 44*(3), 633-646. doi:10.2307/351585
- Gudmunson, C. G., Beutler, I. F., Israelsen, C. L., McCoy, J. K., & Hill, E. J. (2007).
 Linking financial strain to marital instability: Examining the roles of emotional distress and marital interaction. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 28, 357-376. doi:10.1007/s10834-007-9074-7
- Hibbert, J. R., Beutler, I. F., & Martin, T. M. (2004). Financial prudence and next generation financial strain. *Association for Financial Counseling and Planning Education*, 15(2), 51-59. Retrieved from http://6aa7f5c4a9901a3e1a1682793cd11f5a6b732d29.gripelements.com/pdf/vol1526.pdf
- Hill, R. B. (1972). The strengths of Black families. New York, NY: New Viewpoints.
- Hill, R. B. (1999). The *strengths of African American families: Twenty-five years later*.

 Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Hopkins-Williams, K. D. (2007). "Yes, they're out there": A qualitative study on strong African American marriages. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Louisiana State

- University. Retrieved from http://etd.lsu.edu/docs/available/etd-06262007-200349/
- Huberman, A. M., & Miles, M. B. (1994). Data management and analysis methods. In N.K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 428-444). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Jenkins, N. H., Stanley, S. M., Bailey, W. C., & Markman, H. J. (2002). You paid how much for that?!: How to win at money without losing at love. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Joo, S., & Grable, J. E. (2004). An exploratory framework of the determinants of financial satisfaction. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 25, 25-50. doi:10.1023/B:JEEI.0000016722.37994.9f
- Karenga, M., & Karenga, T. (2007). The *Nguzo Saba* and the Black family. In H. P. McAdoo (Ed.), *Black Families* (pp. 7-28). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kimmel, J. (1998). Rural wages and returns to education: Differences between Whites, Blacks, and American Indians. *Economics of Education Review*, *16*(1), 81-96. doi:10.1016/S0272-7757(96)00034-9
- Kinnunen, U., & Feldt, T. (2004). Economic stress and marital adjustment among couples: Analyses at the dyadic level. *European Journal of Social Psychology, 34*, 519-532. doi:10.1002/ejsp.213
- Krokoff, L. J. (1991). Job distress is no laughing matter in marriage, or is it? *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 8, 5-25. doi:10.1177/0265407591081001

- Lambert, N. M., & Dollahite, D. C. (2006). How religiosity helps couples prevent, resolve, and overcome marital conflict. *Family Relations*, *55*, 439-449. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2006.00413.x
- Landry, B. (1987). *The new black middle class*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Lichter, D. T., McLaughlin, D. K., Kephart, G., & Landry, D. J. (1992). Race and the retreat from marriage: A shortage of marriageable men? *American Sociological Review*, *57*(6), 781-799. doi:10.2307/2096123
- Logan, S. L. (1996). A strengths perspective on Black families: Then and now. In S. L. Logan (Ed.), *The Black family* (pp. 8-20). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Marks, L. D., Dollahite, D. C., & Dew, J. P. (2009). Enhancing cultural competence in financial counseling and planning: Understanding why families make religious contributions. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 20(2), 14-26.
- Marks, L., Nesteruk, O., Hopkins-Williams, K., & Swanson, M. (2006). Stressors in African American marriages and families: A qualitative exploration. *Stress*, *Trauma, and Crisis*, *9*, 203-225. doi:10.1080/15434610600854061
- Marks, L. D., Hopkins, K., Chaney, C., Monroe, P., Nesteruk, O., & Sasser, D. D. (2008). "Together, we are strong": A qualitative study of happy, enduring African American marriages. *Family Relations*, *57*, 172-185. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3729.2008.00492.x
- Maxwell, N. L. (1994). The effect on Black-White wage differences of differences in the quantity and quality of education. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 47(2), 249-264. doi:10.2307/2524419

- McAdoo, H. P. (2007). African American demographic images. In H. P. McAdoo (Ed.), *Black families* (pp. 157-171). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McLoyd, V. C. (1990). The impact of economic hardship on Black families:Psychological distress, parenting and socioemotional development. *Child Development*, 61, 311-346. doi:10.2307/1131096
- Mosley-Howard, S., & Evans, C. B. (2000). Relationships and contemporary experiences of the African American family: An ethnographic case study. *Journal of Black Studies*, 30(3), 428-452. doi: 10.1177/002193470003000308
- Mugenda, O. M., Hira, T. K., & Fanslow, A. M. (1990). Assessing the causal relationship among communication, money management practices, satisfaction with financial status, and satisfaction with quality of life. *Lifestyles: Family and economic issues*, 11(4), 343-360. doi:10.1007/BF00987345
- Muske, G., & Winter, M. (2001). An in-depth look at family cash-flow management practices. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 22, 353-372. doi: 10.1023/A:1012764712063
- Neal, D. A., & Johnson, W. R. (1996). The role of premarket factors in Black-White wage differences. *Journal of Political Economy*, 104(5), 869-895. doi:10.1086/262045
- Oggins, J. (2003). Topics of marital disagreement among African-American and Euro-American newlyweds. *Psychological Reports*, 92, 419-425. doi:10.2466/PR0.92.2.419-425

- Olson, D. H. (1988). Family types, family stress, and family satisfaction: A family development perspective. In C. J. Falicov (Ed.), *Family transitions: Continuity and change over the life cycle* (pp. 55-79). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Olson, D. H., & Olson-Sigg, A. (2008). National survey of marital strengths. *Life Innovations, Inc.* Retrieved from http://dyadcounseling.info/marital_strengths.pdf
- Oppenheimer, V. K. (2003). Cohabiting and marriage during young men's career-development process. *Demography*, 40(1), 127-149. doi:10.1353/dem.2003.0006
- Peters, M. F. (2007). Parenting of young children in Black families. In H. P. McAdoo (Ed.), *Black families* (pp. 203-218). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Poduska, B. E., & Allred, H. (1990). Family finances: The missing link in MFT training.

 The American Journal of Family Therapy, 18(2), 161-168. doi:

 10.1080/01926189008250800
- Popenoe, D. (2008). Cohabitation, marriage and child wellbeing: A cross-national perspective. *The State of Our Unions*. Charlottesville, VA: The National Marriage Project. Retrieved from http://www.virginia.edu/marriageproject/pdfs/
 Union 11 25 09
- Reimers, C. W. (1983). Labor market discrimination against Hispanic and Black men. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 65(4), 570-579. doi:10.2307/1935925
- Robinson, L. C., & Blanton, P. W. (1993). Marital strengths in enduring marriages.

 Family Relations, 42(1), 38-45. doi:10.2307/584919
- Rowan, M., & Huston, P. (1997). Qualitative research articles: Information for authors and peer reviewers. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *157*(10), 1442-1446.

 Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1228487/

- pdf/cmaj_157_10_1442.pdf
- Sayer, L. C., & Bianchi, S. M. (2000). Women's economic independence and the probability of divorce. *Journal of Family Issues*, *21*, 906-944. doi:10.1177/019251300021007005
- Schwartz, P. (1994). Peer marriage. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Skogrand, L. M., Johnson, A. C., Horrocks, A. M., & DeFrain, J. (2010). Financial management practices of couples with great marriages. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1007/s10834-010-9195-2
- Skogrand, L. M., Schramm, D. G., Marshall, J. P., & Lee, T. R. (2005). The effects of debt on newlyweds and implications for education. *Journal of Extension*, 43(3), 1.

 Retrieved from http://www.joe.org/joe/2005june/rb7.php
- South, S. J. (1993). Racial and ethnic differences in the desire to marry. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *55*, 357-370. doi:10.2307/352807
- Stanley, S. M., Markman, H. J., & Whitton, S. H. (2002). Communication, conflict, and commitment: Insights on the foundations of relationship success from a national survey. *Family Process*, *41*(4), 659-675. doi:10.1111/j.1545-5300.2002.00659.x
- Staples, R. (2007). An overview of race and marital status. In H. P. McAdoo (Ed.), *Black families* (pp. 281-296). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Stinnett, N., Sanders, G., & DeFrain, J. (1981). Strong families: A national study. In N. Stinnett, J. DeFrain, K. King, P. Knaub, & G. Rowe (Eds.), *Family strengths 3:**Roots of well-being (pp. 33-42). Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press.

- Toldson, I. A. (2008). Counseling persons of Black African ancestry. In P. B. Pedersen, J. G. Draguns, W. J. Lonner, J. E. Trimble (Eds.), *Counseling across cultures* (pp. 161-179). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Trent, K., & South, S. J. (1992). Sociodemographic status, parental background, childhood family structure, and attitudes toward family formation. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *54*(2), 427-439. doi:10.2307/353074
- Tucker, M. B., & Mitchell-Kernan, C. (1995). The decline in marriage among African-Americans: Causes, consequences, and policy implication. New York, NY: Russell Sage.
- Tucker, M. B., & Taylor, R. J. (1989). Demographic correlates of relationship status among Black Americans. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *51*(3), 655-665. doi:10.2307/352165
- United States Census Bureau. (2007). *Marital status* [Data file]. Retrieved from http://factfinder.census.gov/servlet/STTable?_bm=y&-geo_id=01000US&-qr_name=ACS_2007_3YR_G00_S1201&-ds_name=ACS_2007_3YR_G00_
- United States Census Bureau. (2009a, Feb 25). As baby boomers age, fewer families have children under 18 at home. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/newsroom/releases/archives/families_households/cb09-29.html
- United States Census Bureau (2009b, April 27). Census Bureau releases data showing relationship between education and earnings. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/Press-Release/www/releases/archives/education/

- United States Census Bureau (2009c). *Income in the past 12 months (in 2008 inflation-adjusted dollars)*. [Data file] Retrieved from http://factfinder.census.gov/servlet/STTable?_bm=y&geo_id=01000US&qr_name=ACS_2008_3YR_G00_S1_901&-ds_name=ACS_2008_3YR_G00_
- United States Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families. (2010). *Healthy marriage matters*. Retrieved from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/healthymarriage/about/factsheets_hm_matters.html#
- Waite, L. J., Browning, D., Doherty, M. G., Luo, Y., & Stanley, S. M. (2002). *Does divorce make people happy? Findings from a study of unhappy marriages*. New York, NY: Institute for American Values.
- Wallerstein, J. S., & Blakeslee, S. (1995). *The good marriage: How and why love lasts*.

 New York, NY: Warner Books.
- Walsh, F. (2008). Spirituality, healing, and resilience. In M. McGoldrick & K. V. Hardy (Eds.), *Re-Visioning family therapy* (pp. 61-75). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Watt, T. T. (2001). Explaining divorce. *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage*, 35, 125-145. doi:10.1300/J087v35n03_08
- White, L., & Rogers, S. J. (2000). Economic circumstances and family outcomes: A review of the 1990s. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62(4), 1035-1051. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.01035.x
- Wilcox, W. B., Marquardt, E., Popenoe, D., & Whitehead, B. D. (2009). *The state of our unions: Marriage in America 2009*. Chalottesville, VA: The National Marriage Project. Retrieved from http://virginia.edu/marriageproject

- Wilcox, W. B., & Wolfinger, N. H. (2007). Then comes marriage? Religion, race, and marriage in urban America. *Social Science Research*, *36*, 569-589. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2006.02.005
- Williams, J. H., Auslander, W. F., Housont, C. A., Krebill, H., & Haire-Joshu, D. (2000).
 African American family structure: Are there differences in social, psychological, and economic well-being? *Journal of Family Issues*, 21(7), 838-857.
 doi:10.1177/019251300021007002
- Wilson, W. J. (1987). The truly disadvantaged. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Winter, M., Bivens, G. E., & Morris, E. W. (1984). The assessment of subjective change in family financial well-being. In G. Rowe, J. DeFrain, H. Lingren, R.
 MacDonald, N. Stinnett, S. Van Zandt, & R. Williams (Eds.), *Family strengths 5: Continuity and diversity* (pp. 399-417). Newton, MA: Education Development Center.
- Zvonkovic, A. M., Guss, T., & Ladd, L. (1988). Making the most of job loss: Individual and marital features of underemployment. *Family Relations*, *37*(1), 56-61. doi:10.2307/584430

APPENDICES

Appendix A. Brochure

Strong Marriages in the **Q** African American Community



How Can We Help?

You and your spouse participating in a 1-2 hour interview in which you both share your thoughts regarding what it takes to make a successful marriage.

Who Is Eligible?

African-American couples who have been legally married for a period of at least 10 years, have at least one child, and consider themselves happily married.

What Do We Get For Participating?
You and your spouse will be given a \$40.00 gift certificate to a local restaurant of your choice.

Who Should We Contact For More Information?

Cassandra Chaney

Linda Skogrand
Linda Skogrand. Ph.D.

Cassandra Chaney, Ph.D. Assistant Professor Louisiana State University School of Human Ecology Linda Skogrand, Ph.D. Assistant Professor & Ext. Specialist Utah State University

School of Human Ecology 2705 UMC Family, Child, and Consumer Sciences Logan, Utah 84322

Phone: (435) 797-8183 Email: linda.skogrand@usu.edu

336 Human Ecology Building Baton Rouge, LA 70803 Phone: (225) 578-1729

Email: cchaney@agctr.lsu.edu

Appendix B. Interview Protocol

Protocol for African American Interviews

- 1. Contact potential couples and explain the study, including the requirement for participation:
 - a. Both husband and wife need to identify as African American
 - b. Both husband and wife need to feel they have a strong marriage
 - c. They must have at least one child, and both be involved, or both have been involved, in raising that child (this may be a step parent family)
 - d. Must have been legally married for at least 10 years

2. Schedule interview

- a. Indicate that we would like to interview them separately since we would like to get their individual responses to the interview questions. They can choose to be interviewed one right after the other or at separate times
- b. Ask them where they would like to be interviewed, i.e. in their home, at their place of work, at the university, etc.
- c. Explain that they will be provided with a \$40 gift certificate at a restaurant of their choice—the gift certificate will be mailed to them after the interview
- d. Each couple will be assigned a number and wives will have an "a" after the number and husbands a "b" after the number; Cassandra will have numbers starting with "l" and Linda will have numbers starting with "50"

3. Conducting the interviews

- a. The consent forms will be summarized before they are asked to sign the forms
- b. Ask if there are questions about the study
- c. Have two consent forms for each person (four per couple), one for the husband and wife to keep and one signed consent form from the husband and wife for our files—put the couple numbers on the consent forms, the demographic forms, and start each interview indicating what the number of the interview is, i.e. 2a or 51b
- d. Complete the demographic form before the interview starts by asking the questions and filling in the answers
- e. Begin the interview; it can work well to have the recorder on the armchair of the person being interviewed, or have that person hold it
- f. Each interview will be a separate file

4. Ending the interviews

- a. Thank them for their time and find out which restaurant they would like their gift certificate from
- b. Make sure we have their correct name and address so we can mail the gift certificate to them

Appendix C. Consent Letter

Date Created: March 15, 2008

Page 1 of 2

Informed Consent "Strong Marriages in the African American Culture"

To Participants in "Strong Marriages in the African American Culture" Study:

You are being asked to participate in a research study to learn about what makes a marriage strong in the African American culture. This information will be used to learn how to help other African American couples have strong marriages. The information you provide will be used to develop marriage education for other couples who might want to have strong marriages.

You and your spouse are being asked to participate in an interview that will last from 30 minutes to one hour. You and your spouse will be interviewed separately. You will be asked approximately 30 questions and the answers to the questions will be tape recorded. The tapes will be kept for three years, after which time they will be destroyed by erasing each of the tapes.

There will be minimal risks from participating in this study. Participating in this study will give you an opportunity to help other African American couples have a good marriage. There will be approximately 25 couples participating in the study. Your family will be provided with a gift certificate worth \$40 to a local restaurant after you and your spouse have completed the interviews as a way of saying thank you for participating in the study.

Completing the interview is completely voluntary. You can refuse to participate or withdraw from the study at any time without consequence. Research records will be kept confidential, consistent with federal and state regulations. Your responses will be kept confidential by using a code on the audiotape and any transcriptions of the tapes. The code corresponding with your name will be kept in a locked cabinet, and the code and corresponding name will be destroyed after the study is completed and the tapes are transcribed. All audio tapes and transcribed materials will also be kept in a locked cabinet. Only the principal investigator and co-investigator will have access to the name and corresponding code. Those transcribing and analyzing the data will not have access to the names. There will be no reference to individual identity any time when the information is reported.

The interviews will take place in a location convenient for the participants. It will usually take place in the participants' home, but may take place in an office on campus, a community building, or a restaurant. The interviews will be conducted by Cassandra Chaney and Linda Skogrand.

Date Created: March 15, 2008

Page 2 of 2

If you have questions about the study at any time, you can contact me, Linda Skogrand, at Utah State University at 435-797-8183. You may also contact the Utah State Institutional Review Board office at 435-797-1821 if you have questions about your rights as a participant in this research study. You have been given two copies of this Informed Consent. Please sign both copies and keep one copy for your records.

I certify that the research has been explained to the individual, by me or my research assistant and that the individual understands the nature and purpose of this research. Any questions that have been raised have been answered.

Principal Investigator Cassandra Chaney Louisiana State University	Date
	_
Co-Investigator	Date
Linda Skogrand	
Utah State University	
By signing below I agree to participate.	
Signature of Participant	Date

Appendix D. Demographic Data Form

Demographic Data

(To be collected Verbally Before the Interview)

Age of husband	Age of wife				
35-39	35-39				
40-44	40-44				
45-49	45-49				
50-54	50-54				
55-59	55-59				
60-64	60-64				
65-69	65-69				
70-74	70-74				
75 and older	75 and 6	older			
. Education of husband Education of wife					
	8 th grade	8 th grade			
		High school			
	· ·	Technical School			
		Community College			
	•	Four-Year College			
	Graduate School	Graduate School			
Household Income	;				
		\$50,000-\$59,999			
		\$60,000-\$69,999			
		\$70,000-\$79,999			
	\$30,000-\$39,999	\$80,000-\$89,999			
	\$40,000-\$49,999	\$90,000-\$99,999			
		Over \$100,000			
Occupation of husl	and				
Occupation of huse	Janu				
Occupation of wife	2				
6. Was marriage in the United StatesAnother country					
7. Age at marriage of husbandAge at marriage of wife					
Length of time bei	ng married				
Previous number of marriages of husbandof wife					
	35-3940-4445-4950-5455-5960-6465-6970-7475 and older Education of husband of hu				

10. Age and sex of children					
Child number one	(age)	(sex)			
Child number two		(sex)			
Child number three	(age)	(sex)			
Child number four	(age)	(sex)			
Child number five	(age)	(sex)			
Child number six	(age)	(sex)			
Child number seven	(age)	(sex)			
Child number eight	(age)	(sex)			
Child number nine	(age)	(sex)			
Child number ten	(age)	(sex)			
11. Religion					
12. How long have you lived in from	_		Where did you come		
13. Did you live together before	e marriage? If s	o, how long_			
Note or clarification of above information:					

Appendix E. Interview Schedule

Interview Schedule

Strong Marriages in the African American Culture

Because we are trying to understand more about Strong Marriages in your culture, we would like to ask you about your thoughts about what makes a strong marriage.

- 1. Can you tell me about how you and your spouse met? Can you tell me how you ended up getting married? Can you tell me about one of the best times you had when you were dating?
- 2. In your opinion, what are the reasons for getting married?
- 3. How would you describe a strong marriage? What is essential for a strong marriage?
- 4. Do you know other Black couples who have a strong marriage? What do you believe makes their marriages strong?
- 5. Do you know couples who are having difficulties in their marriage? What do you believe has caused these couples to have difficulties in their marriage?
- 6. How did you learn about what it takes to have a strong marriage? Did your parents, or other individuals, give you any advice regarding marriage? If so, what advice did they give? What advice really stuck in your mind?
- 7. How did you prepare for getting married?
- 8. What specific adjustments did you make in your life to get ready for marriage?
- 9. How would you define family?
- 10. What is more important, your immediate family, your extended family, or your marriage? Please explain.
- 11. What kinds of relationships do you have with extended family members?
- 12. Do you have family members outside of the marriage with whom you spend considerable time? How do those relationships affect your marriage?
- 13. Do you spend much time with friends? How have these relationships affected your marriage?
- 14. Have family members or friends ever lived with you during your marriage? How did this affect your marriage?

- 15. What were your feelings about having children?
- 16. How did your marriage change after you had children?
- 17. What were high points in your marriage? What were low points? Please tell a story about each.
- 18. What kinds of things could happen that would cause you to have difficulties in your marriage?
- 19. Who would you go to if you had problems with your marriage?
- 20. Would you ever ask professionals to help with your marriage? Please explain.
- 21. How do you make decisions in your marriage?
- 22. Has the church or religion played a role in your marriage? Please explain.
- 23. Did you ever consider separation or divorce? If so, what triggered it?
- 24. As you know, many Black couples struggle in their marriage. What do you think would be most helpful in helping these couples prepare for marriage?
- 25. What would be the most helpful in supporting Black couples to continue to have strong marriages?
- 26. Do you think that what makes a strong marriage in the Black culture different than what it takes to make a strong marriage in the White culture?
- 27. What were your expectations before marriage? How have your views changed or remained the same over the years?
- 28. Are there any things about strong marriages that you would like to add?
- 29. Are there any things you would like to ask us about?